New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 24 (2018) 83–145.

Effective separability of finitely generated nilpotent groups

Mark Pengitore

ABSTRACT. We give effective proofs of residual finiteness and conjugacy separability for finitely generated nilpotent groups. In particular, we give precise effective bounds for a function introduced by Bou-Rabee that measures how large the finite quotients that are needed to separate nonidentity elements of bounded length from the identity which improves the work of Bou-Rabee. Similarly, we give polynomial upper and lower bounds for an analogous function introduced by Lawton, Louder, and McReynolds that measures how large the finite quotients that are needed to separate pairs of distinct conjugacy classes of bounded word length using work of Blackburn and Mal'tsev.

Contents

Part	I. Inti	roduction	84
1.	Main results		85
	1.1.	Effective residual finiteness	85
	1.2.	Effective conjugacy separability	88
	Ackr	nowledgments	89
2.	Background		90
	2.1.	Notation and conventions	90
	2.2.	Finitely generated groups and separability	91
	2.3.	Nilpotent groups and nilpotent Lie groups	91
	2.4.	Polycyclic groups	93
Part	Part II. Technical tools		
3.	Admi	ssible quotients	96
	3.1.	Existence of admissible quotients	96
	3.2.	Properties of admissible quotients	100
4.	Comm	nutator geometry and lower bounds for residual finiteness	102
	4.1.	Finite index subgroups and cyclic series	102
	4.2.	Reduction of complexity for residual finiteness	104

Received July 31, 2017.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 20F18, 20E25.

Key words and phrases. Nilpotent groups, residual finiteness, conjugacy separable.

4.3. Rank and step estimates	105	
Some examples of precise residual finiteness		
5.1. Basics facts about the integral Heisenberg group	110	
5.2. Residual finiteness of $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$	111	
Part III. Residual finiteness		
6. Proof of Theorem 1.1	113	
7. Cyclic series, lattices in nilpotent Lie groups, and Theorem 1.3	117	
8. Some examples and the proof of Theorem 1.5	122	
8.1. Free nilpotent groups and Theorem 1.5(i)	122	
8.2. Central products and applications	125	
Part IV. Conjugacy separability		
9. A review of Blackburn and a proof of Theorem 1.6	128	
10. Relating complexity in groups and Lie algebras	131	
11. Preliminary estimates for Theorem 1.7	133	
12. Proof of Theorem 1.7	136	
13. Proofs of Theorem 1.8 and Theorem 1.9	138	
14. Proof of Theorem 1.10	143	
References		

Part I. Introduction

We say that Γ is residually finite if for each nontrivial element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$. Mal'tsev [28] proved that if Γ is a residually finite finitely presentable group, then there exists a solution to the word problem of Γ . We say that Γ is conjugacy separable if for each nonconjugate pair of elements $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma)$ and $\varphi(\eta)$ are not conjugate. Mal'tsev [28] also proved that if Γ is a conjugacy separable finitely presentable group, then there exists a solution to the conjugacy problem of Γ .

Residual finiteness, conjugacy separability, subgroup separability, and other residual properties have been extensively studied and used to great effect in resolving important conjectures in geometry, such as the work of Agol on the Virtual Haken conjecture [1]. Much of the work in the literature has been to understand which groups satisfy various residual properties. For example, free groups, polycyclic groups, finitely generated nilpotent groups, surface groups, and fundamental groups of compact, orientable 3manifolds have all been shown to be residually finite and conjugacy separable [3, 14, 18, 19, 34, 37]. Recently, there have been several papers that have made effective these separability properties for certain classes of groups. The

main purpose of this article is to improve on the effective residual finiteness results of [4] and establish effective conjugacy separability results for the class of finitely generated nilpotent groups.

1. Main results

To state our results, we require some notation. For two nondecreasing functions $f, g : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$, we write $f \preceq g$ if there exists a $C \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $f(n) \leq Cg(Cn)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We write $f \approx g$ when $f \preceq g$ and $g \preceq f$. For a finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , we denote $T(\Gamma)$ to be the normal subgroup of finite order elements. For a finitely generated group Γ , we denote Γ_i as the *i*-th step of the lower central series.

1.1. Effective residual finiteness. For a finitely generated group Γ with a finite generating subset S, [4] (see also [35]) introduced a function $F_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ on the natural numbers that quantifies residual finiteness. Specifically, the value of $F_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ is the maximum order of a finite group needed to distinguish a nonidentity element from the identity as one varies over nonidentity elements in the *n*-ball. Numerous authors have studied the effective behavior of $F_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ for a wide collection of groups (see [4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 21, 32, 35]).

As we will see in Subsection 2.2.1, the dependence of $F_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ on S is mild; subsequently, we will suppress the dependence of F_{Γ} on the generating subset in this subsection.

For finitely generated nilpotent groups, Bou-Rabee [4, Thm 0.2] proved that $F_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{h(\Gamma)}$ where $h(\Gamma)$ is the Hirsch length of Γ . Our first result establishes the precise effective behavior of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$.

Theorem 1.1. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. There exists a $\psi_{RF}(\Gamma) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$$
.

Additionally, one can compute $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ given a basis for $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))_c$ where c is the step length of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$.

Given the nature of the study of the effective behavior of residual finiteness for some finitely generated group Γ , we must study the upper bounds and lower bounds of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ separately. However, the necessary tools used in the calculation of both bounds are developed in Part II. In the next few paragraphs, we describe the tools developed in these sections and how they are applied to the study of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ when Γ is an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group.

§3 introduces admissible quotients of a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group which are associated to central, nontrivial elements. These admissible quotients are the main tool of use in the evaluation of the upper and lower bounds for Theorem 1.1. This section develops properties of admissible quotients associated to nontrivial, central elements and introduces

the idea of a maximal admissible quotient. These maximal admissible quotients capture the complexity of residual finiteness of torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent groups. In particular, the Hirsch length of a maximal admissible quotient is a global invariant of a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ and is equal to the value $\psi_{\rm BF}(\Gamma)$.

§4 is devoted to developing tools that allow us to reduce the study of residual finiteness of an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ to the study of residual finiteness of a maximal admissible quotient $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))/\Lambda$ of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$.

§4 and §5 allow us to give an overall strategy for the upper and lower bounds for $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ when Γ is an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. We first demonstrate that $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ is equivalent to $F_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(n)$. That allows us to assume that the nilpotent group in consideration is torsion-free. For the upper bound, we then proceed by induction on the step length of Γ which reduces us to the consideration of elements who have powers that are in the last nontrivial step of the lower central series. If $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is a nontrivial, central element with admissible quotient Γ/Λ_{γ} associated to γ , we have, by construction, that the image of γ is nontrivial in Γ/Λ . Then, via the Prime Number Theorem, we demonstrate that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma} \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$ and where

$$|Q| \le \left(\log(\|\gamma\|_S)\right)^{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_\gamma)}.$$

We finish by observing that if Γ/Λ is a maximal admissible quotient, then $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \leq h(\Gamma/\Lambda)$ for all central, nontrivial elements $\gamma \in \Gamma$. As an immediate consequence, the effective behavior of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ is bounded above by $(\log(n))^{\psi_{RF}(\Gamma)}$.

For the lower bound, we show that the elements that realize the lower bound for $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ are central elements γ satisfying $\gamma \not\equiv 1 \mod \Lambda$ where Γ/Λ is a maximal admissible quotient of Γ . Thus, we need to study surjective homomorphisms to finite groups $\varphi: \Gamma \to Q$ with $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$. We first demonstrate that the study of the given homomorphism may be reduced to the study of the homomorphism $\widehat{\pi \circ \varphi}: \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$ where $\pi: Q \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$ is the natural projection and where $\widehat{\pi \circ \varphi}: \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$ is the homomorphism induced by $\pi \circ \varphi: \Gamma \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$. We then introduce necessary conditions on the homomorphism $\widehat{\pi \circ \varphi}$ so that $|Q/\varphi(\Lambda)| \ge p^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$. In particular, we use the Prime Number Theorem to pick a sequence of elements $\{\gamma_i\} \subseteq \Gamma$ such that the order of the minimal finite group that separates γ_i from the identity is bounded below by $C(\log(C||\gamma_i||))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$ for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$.

§5 gives a preview of the techniques used for the proof of Theorem 1.1 by explicitly calculating $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$ where $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ is the (2m + 1)dimensional integral Heisenberg group. In particular, we use the techniques and tools developed in the previous sections.

The following is a consequence of the proof of Theorem 1.1.

Corollary 1.2. Let Γ be a finitely generated nilpotent group. Then

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{h(\Gamma)}$$

if and only if $h(Z(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))) = 1$.

We now introduce some terminology. Suppose that G is a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . We say that Gis \mathbb{Q} -defined if \mathfrak{g} admits a basis with rational structure constants. The *Mal'tsev completion* of a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ is a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group G such that Γ embeds into as a cocompact lattice.

The next theorem demonstrates that the effective behavior of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ is an invariant of the Mal'tsev completion of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$.

Theorem 1.3. Suppose that Γ_1 and Γ_2 are two infinite, finitely generated nilpotent groups such that $\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1)$ and $\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2)$ have isomorphic Mal'tsev completions. Then $F_{\Gamma_1}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma_2}(n)$.

The proof of Theorem 1.3 follows from an examination of a cyclic series that comes from a refinement of the upper central series and its interaction with the topology of the Mal'tsev completion.

Since the 3-dimensional integral Heisenberg group embeds into every infinite, nonabelian nilpotent group, Theorem 1.1, Theorem 1.3, [4, Thm 2.2], and [4, Cor 2.3] allow us to characterize \mathbb{R}^d within the collection of connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie groups by the effective behavior of residual finiteness of a cocompact lattice.

Corollary 1.4. Let G be a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group. Then G is Lie isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{\dim(G)}$ if and only if

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \precsim (\log(n))^3$$

where $\Gamma \subseteq G$ is any cocompact lattice.

For the last result of this section, we need the following. We say that a group Γ is *irreducible* if there is no nontrivial splitting of Γ as a direct product.

Theorem 1.5.

 (i) For each c ∈ N, there exists a m(c) ∈ N satisfying the following. For each l ∈ N, there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ of step length c and h(Γ) ≥ l such that

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{m(c)}$$

(ii) Suppose that $\ell \neq 2$. There exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ_{ℓ} such that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_{\ell}}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\ell}$$
.

(iii) Suppose $2 \leq c_1 < c_2$ are natural numbers. For each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent groups Γ_{ℓ} and Δ_{ℓ} of step lengths c_1 and c_2 , respectively, such that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_{\ell}}(n), \mathbf{F}_{\Delta_{\ell}}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\ell \operatorname{lcm}(c_1+1,c_2+1)}$$

(iv) For natural numbers c > 1 and $m \ge 1$, there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ of step length csuch that

$$(\log(n))^m \preceq \mathcal{F}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

For Theorem 1.5(i), we consider free nilpotent groups of fixed step length and increasing rank. We make use of central products of filiform nilpotent groups for Theorem 1.5(ii)-(iv).

Using Theorem 1.5, we are able to relate the constant $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ with well known invariants of Γ when Γ is a finitely generated nilpotent group. Theorem 1.5(i) implies that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ does not depend on the Hirsch length of Γ . Similarly, Theorem 1.5(iv) implies that there is no upper bound in terms of step length of Γ for $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$. On the other hand, the step size of Γ is not determined by $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ as seen in Theorem 1.5(iii).

1.2. Effective conjugacy separability. We now turn our attention to the study of effective conjugacy separability. Lawton-Louder-McReynolds [25] introduced a function $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ on the natural numbers that quantifies conjugacy separability. To be precise, the value of $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ is the maximum order of the minimal finite quotient needed to separate a pair of nonconjugate elements as one varies over nonconjugate pairs of elements in the *n*-ball. Since the dependence of $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S}(n)$ on *S* is mild (see Lemma 2.1), we will suppress the generating subset throughout this subsection.

The only previous work on the effective behavior of $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$ is due to Lawton–Louder–McReynolds [25]. They demonstrate that if Γ is a surface group or a finite rank free group, then $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \leq n^{n^2}$ [25, Cor 1.7]. In this subsection, we initiate the study of the effective behavior of $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$ for the collection of finitely generated nilpotent groups.

Our first result is the calculation of $\operatorname{Conj}_{\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$ where $\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ is the (2m+1)-dimensional integral Heisenberg group.

Theorem 1.6. $\operatorname{Conj}_{\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \approx n^{2m+1}$.

For general nilpotent groups, we establish the following upper bound for $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$.

Theorem 1.7. Let Γ be a finitely generated nilpotent group. Then there exists a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq n^k$$
.

Blackburn [3] was the first to prove conjugacy separability of finitely generated nilpotent groups. Our strategy for proving Theorem 1.7 is to effectivize [3].

For the same class of groups, we have the following lower bound which allows us to characterize virtually abelian groups within the class of finitely generated nilpotent groups. Moreoever, we obtain the first example of a class of groups for which the effective behavior of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ and $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$ are shown to be dramatically different.

Theorem 1.8. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group.

(i) If Γ contains a normal abelian subgroup of index m, then

$$\log(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^m$$

(ii) Suppose that Γ is not virtually abelian. There exists a $\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$n^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)} \preceq \text{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Additionally, one can compute $\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)$ given a basis for $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))_c$ where c is the step length of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$.

The proof of Theorem 1.8(i) is elementary. We prove Theorem 1.8(ii) by finding an infinite sequence of nonconjugate elements $\{\gamma_i, \eta_i\}$ such that the order of the minimal finite group that separates the conjugacy classes of γ_i and η_i is bounded below by $Cn_i^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)}$ for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$ where $\|\gamma_i\|_S, \|\eta_i\|_S \approx$ n_i for some finite generating subset S using tools from §3 and §5.

We have the following theorem which is similar in nature to Theorem 1.3.

Theorem 1.9. Let Γ and Δ be infinite, finitely generated nilpotent groups of step size greater than or equal to 2, and suppose that $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$ and $\Delta/T(\Delta)$ have isomorphic Mal'tsev completions. Then

 $n^{\psi_{\operatorname{Lower}}(\Gamma)} \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Delta}(n) \quad and \quad n^{\psi_{\operatorname{Lower}}(\Delta)} \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$

We apply Theorem 1.8 to construct nilpotent groups that help demonstrate the various effective behaviors that the growth of conjugacy separability may exhibit.

Theorem 1.10. For natural numbers c > 1 and $k \ge 1$, there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ of step length c such that

$$n^k \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Theorem 1.10 implies that the conjugacy separability function does not depend of the step length of the nilpotent group. We consider central products of filiform nilpotent groups for Theorem 1.10.

Acknowledgments. I would like to thank Ben McReynolds, my advisor, for all of his help and my mentor Priyam Patel for her guidance. I am indebted to Karel Dekimpe for his suggestions for Proposition 11.1. I also want to thank Khalid Bou-Rabee for looking at earlier drafts of this article and for his many insightful comments. Finally, I want to thank Alex Barrios, Rachel Davis, Jonas Deré, Artur Jackson, Gijey Gilliam, Brooke Magiera, and Nick Miller for conversations on this article.

2. Background

We will assume the reader is familiar with finitely generated groups, Lie groups, and Lie algebras.

2.1. Notation and conventions. We let $\operatorname{lcm}\{r_1, \ldots, r_m\}$ be the lowest common multiple of $\{r_1, \ldots, r_m\} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ with the convention that $\operatorname{lcm}(a) = |a|$ and $\operatorname{lcm}(a, 0) = 0$. We let $\operatorname{gcd}(r_1, \ldots, r_m)$ be the greatest common multiple of $\{r_1, \ldots, r_m\} \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ with the convention that $\operatorname{gcd}(a, 0) = |a|$.

We denote $\|\gamma\|_S$ as the word length of γ with respect to the finite generating subset S and denote the identity of Γ as 1. We denote the order of γ as an element of Γ as $\operatorname{Ord}_{\Gamma}(\gamma)$ and denote the cardinality of a group Γ as $|\Gamma|$. We write $\gamma \sim \eta$ when there exists an element $g \in \Gamma$ such that $g^{-1} \gamma g = \eta$. For a normal subgroup $\Delta \leq \Gamma$, we set $\pi_{\Delta} : \Gamma \to \Gamma/\Delta$ to be the natural projection and write $\bar{\gamma} = \pi_{\Delta}(\gamma)$ when Δ is clear from context. For a subset $X \subseteq \Gamma$, we denote $\langle X \rangle$ to be the subgroup generated by X. For any group Γ , we let $\Gamma^{\bullet} = \Gamma \setminus \{1\}$.

We define the commutator of γ and η as $[\gamma, \eta] = \gamma^{-1} \eta^{-1} \gamma \eta$. We denote the *m*-fold commutator of not necessarily distinct elements $\{\gamma_i\}_{i=1}^m \subseteq \Gamma$ as $[\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_m]$ with the convention that

$$[\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_m] = [[\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_{m-1}],\gamma_m].$$

We denote the center of Γ as $Z(\Gamma)$ and the centralizer of γ in Γ as $C_{\Gamma}(\gamma)$. We define Γ_i to be the *i*-th term of the lower central series and $Z^i(\Gamma)$ to be the *i*-th term of the upper central series. For $\gamma \in \Gamma^{\bullet}$, we denote $\text{Height}(\gamma)$ as the minimal $j \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\pi_{Z^{j-1}(\Gamma)}(\gamma) \neq 1$.

We define the abelianization of Γ as Γ_{ab} with the associated projection given by $\pi_{ab} = \pi_{[\Gamma,\Gamma]}$. For $m \in \mathbb{N}$, we define $\Gamma^m \cong \langle \gamma^m \mid \gamma \in \Gamma \rangle$.

When given a basis $X = \{X_i\}_{i=1}^{\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathfrak{g})}$ for \mathfrak{g} , we denote

$$\left\| \sum_{i=1}^{\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathfrak{g})} \alpha_i X_i \right\|_X = \sum_{i=1}^{\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathfrak{g})} |\alpha_i|.$$

For a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} with a Lie ideal \mathfrak{h} , we define $\pi_{\mathfrak{h}} : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{h}$ to be the natural Lie projection.

For a \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , we denote $Z(\mathfrak{g})$ to the center of \mathfrak{g} , \mathfrak{g}_i to be the *i*-th term of the lower central series, and $Z^i(\mathfrak{g})$ to be the *i*-th term of the upper central series.

For $A \in \mathfrak{g}$, we define the map $\operatorname{ad}_A : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$ to be given by

$$\operatorname{ad}_A(B) = [A, B].$$

Denote the *m*-fold Lie bracket of not necessarily distinct elements $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^m \subseteq \mathfrak{g}$ as $[A_1, \ldots, A_m]$ with the convention that

$$[A_1, \ldots, A_m] = [[A_1, \ldots, A_{m-1}], A_m].$$

2.2. Finitely generated groups and separability.

2.2.1. Residually finite groups. Following [4] (see also [35]), we define the depth function $D_{\Gamma} : \Gamma^{\bullet} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ of the finitely generated group Γ to be given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \min \left\{ |Q| \mid \varphi: \Gamma \to Q, |Q| < \infty, \text{ and } \varphi(\gamma) \neq 1 \right\}.$$

We define $F_{\Gamma,S} : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ by

$$F_{\Gamma,S}(n) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \max \left\{ D_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \mid \|\gamma\|_{S} \leq n \text{ and } \gamma \neq 1 \right\}.$$

When Γ is a residually finite group, then $F_{\Gamma,S}(n) < \infty$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. For any two finite generating subsets S_1 and S_2 , we have that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma,S_1}(n) \approx \mathbf{F}_{\Gamma,S_2}(n)$$

(see [4, Lem 1.1]). Thus, we will suppress the choice of finite generating subset.

2.2.2. Conjugacy separable groups. Following [25], we define the conjugacy depth function of Γ , denoted $\text{CD}_{\Gamma} : (\Gamma \times \Gamma) \setminus \{(\gamma, \eta) \mid \gamma \sim \eta\} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$, to be given by

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \min \left\{ |Q| \mid \varphi: \Gamma \to Q, |Q| < \infty, \text{ and } \varphi(\gamma) \nsim \varphi(\eta) \right\}.$$

We define $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S}(n) : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ as

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S}(n) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \max \left\{ \operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta) \mid \gamma \nsim \eta \text{ and } \|\gamma\|_{S}, \|\eta\|_{S} \leq n \right\}.$$

When Γ is a conjugacy separable group, then $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S}(n) < \infty$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 2.1. If S_1, S_2 are two finite generating subsets of Γ , then

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S_1}(n) \approx \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma,S_2}(n).$$

The proof is similar to [4, Lem 1.1] (see also [25, Lem 2.1]). As before, we will suppress the choice of finite generating subset.

[25, Lem 2.1] implies that the order of the minimal finite group required to separate a nonidentity element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ from the identity is bounded above by the order of the minimal finite group required to separate the conjugacy class of γ from the identity. Thus, $F_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$ for all conjugacy separable groups. In particular, if Γ is conjugacy separable, then Γ is residually finite.

2.3. Nilpotent groups and nilpotent Lie groups. See [13, 17, 23, 36] for a more thorough account of the material in this subsection. Let Γ be a nontrivial, finitely generated group. The *i*-th term of the *lower central* series is defined by $\Gamma_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Gamma$, and for i > 1, we let $\Gamma_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [\Gamma_{i-1}, \Gamma]$. The *i*-term of the *upper central series* is defined by $Z^0(\Gamma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{1\}$ and $Z^i(\Gamma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi_{Z^{i-1}(\Gamma)}^{-1}(Z(\Gamma/Z^{i-1}(\Gamma)))$ for i > 1.

Definition 2.2. We say that Γ is a *nilpotent group of step size* c if c is the minimal natural number such that $\Gamma_{c+1} = \{1\}$, or equivalently, $Z^c(\Gamma) = \Gamma$. If the step size is unspecified, we simply say that Γ is a nilpotent group. When given a nilpotent group Γ , we denote its step length as $c(\Gamma)$.

For a finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , the set of torsion elements of Γ , denoted as $T(\Gamma)$, is a finite, characteristic subgroup. Moreover, when $|\Gamma| = \infty$, then $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$ is torsion-free.

Let \mathfrak{g} be a nontrivial, finite dimensional \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra. The *i*-th term of the *lower central series* of \mathfrak{g} is defined by $\mathfrak{g}_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{g}$, and for i > 1, we let $\mathfrak{g}_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [\mathfrak{g}_{i-1}, \mathfrak{g}]$. We define the *i*-th term of the *upper central series* as $Z^0(\mathfrak{g}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{0\}$ and $Z^i(\mathfrak{g}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi_{Z^{i-1}(\mathfrak{g})}^{-1}(Z(\mathfrak{g}/Z^{i-1}(\mathfrak{g})))$ for i > 1.

Definition 2.3. We say that \mathfrak{g} is a *nilpotent Lie algebra* of step length c if c is the minimal natural number satisfying $Z^{c}(\mathfrak{g}) = \mathfrak{g}$, or equivalently, $\mathfrak{g}_{c+1} = \{0\}$. If the step size is unspecified, we simply say that \mathfrak{g} is a nilpotent Lie algebra.

For a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie group G with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , the exponential map, written as $\exp : \mathfrak{g} \to G$, is a diffeomorphism [23, Thm 1.127] whose inverse is formally denoted as Log. The Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff formula [13, (1.3)] implies that every $A, B \in \mathfrak{g}$ satisfies

(1)
$$A * B \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Log}(\exp A \cdot \exp B) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} A + B + \frac{1}{2}[A, B] + \sum_{m=3}^{\infty} CB_m(A, B)$$

where $CB_m(A, B)$ is a rational linear combination of *m*-fold Lie brackets of A and B. By assumption, $CB_m(A, B) = 0$ for m > c(G). For $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^m$ in \mathfrak{g} , we may more generally write

(2)
$$A_1 * \cdots * A_m = \text{Log}(\exp A_1 \cdots \exp A_m) = \sum_{i=1}^{c(G)} CB_i(A_1, \dots, A_m)$$

where $CB_i(A_1, \ldots, A_m)$ is a rational linear combination of *i*-fold Lie brackets of the elements $\{A_{j_t}\}_{t=1}^{\ell} \subseteq \{A_i\}_{i=1}^{m}$ via repeated applications of the Baker– Campbell–Hausdorff formula.

We define the adjoint representation of G, denoted $\operatorname{Ad} : G \to \operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$, as $\operatorname{Ad}(g)(X) = (d\Psi_g)_1(X)$ where $\Psi_g(x) = g x g^{-1}$. By [23, 1.92], we may write for $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and $A \in \mathfrak{g}$

(3)
$$\operatorname{Ad}(\gamma)(A) = A + \frac{1}{2}[\operatorname{Log}(\gamma), A] + \sum_{i=3}^{c} \frac{(\operatorname{ad}_{\operatorname{Log}(\gamma)})^{i}(A)}{i!}.$$

By [30], a connected, simply connected nilpotent Lie group G with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} admits a cocompact lattice Γ if and only if \mathfrak{g} admits a basis with rational structure constants (see [29, Thm 7] for more details). We say G is \mathbb{Q} -defined if it admits a cocompact lattice. For any torsion-free, finitely

generated nilpotent group Γ , [29, Thm 6] implies that there exists a \mathbb{Q} -defined group unique up to isomorphism in which Γ embeds as a cocompact lattice.

Definition 2.4. We call this \mathbb{Q} -defined group the *Mal'tsev completion* of Γ . When given a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group G, the tangent space at the identity with the Lie bracket of vector fields is a finite dimensional nilpotent \mathbb{R} -Lie algebra.

2.4. Polycyclic groups. See [20, 33, 36] for the material contained in the following subsection.

Definition 2.5. A group Γ is *polycyclic* if there exists an ascending chain of subgroups $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^m$ such that Δ_1 is cyclic, $\Delta_i \leq \Delta_{i+1}$, and Δ_{i+1}/Δ_i is cyclic for all *i*. We call $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^m$ a *cyclic series* for Γ . We say $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^m$ is a *compatible generating subset* with respect to the cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^m$ if $\langle \xi_1 \rangle = \Delta_1$ and $\langle \xi_{i+1}, \Delta_i \rangle = \Delta_{i+1}$ for all i > 1. We define the *Hirsch length* of Γ , denoted as $h(\Gamma)$, as the number of indices *i* such that $|\Delta_{i+1} : \Delta_i| = \infty$.

For a general polycyclic group, there may be infinitely many different cyclic series of arbitrary length (see [20, Ex 8.2]). However, the Hirsch length of Γ is independent of the cyclic series. With respect to the compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^m$, [20, Lem 8.3] implies that we may represent every element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ uniquely as $\gamma = \prod_{i=1}^m \xi_i^{\alpha_i}$ where $\alpha_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ if $|\Delta_{i+1} : \Delta_i| = \infty$ and $0 \leq \alpha_i < r_i$ if $|\Delta_{i+1} : \Delta_i| = r_i$. If $|\Gamma| < \infty$, then the second paragraph after [20, Defn 8.2] implies that $|\Gamma| = \prod_{i=1}^m r_i$.

Definition 2.6. We call the collection of such *m*-tuples a *Mal'tsev basis* for Γ with respect to the compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^m$. When $\gamma = \prod_{i=1}^m \xi_i^{\alpha_i}$, we call $(\alpha_i)_{i=1}^m$ the *Mal'tsev coordinates* of γ .

For a finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , we may refine the upper central series to obtain a cyclic series and a compatible generating subset. In particular, we will demonstrate that every finitely generated nilpotent group is polycyclic. First, assume that Γ is abelian. We may write $\Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}^m \oplus T(\Gamma)$, and we let $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a free basis for \mathbb{Z}^m . Since $T(\Gamma)$ is a finite abelian group, there exists an isomorphism $\varphi: T(\Gamma) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbb{Z}/p_i^{k_i}\mathbb{Z}$. If x_i generates $\mathbb{Z}/p_i^{k_i}\mathbb{Z}$ in $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathbb{Z}/p_i^{k_i}\mathbb{Z}$, we then set $\xi_i = \varphi^{-1}(x_{i-h(\Gamma)})$ for $h(\Gamma) + 1 \leq i \leq h(\Gamma) + \ell$. Thus, the groups $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)+\ell}$ given by $\Delta_i = \langle \xi_i \rangle_{t=1}^i$ form a cyclic series for Γ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)+\ell}$.

We now assume that $c(\Gamma) > 1$. There exists a generating basis $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ for $Z(\Gamma)$ and integers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ such that $\{z_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ is a basis for $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, and for each i, there exist $x_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $y_i \in \Gamma$ such that $z_i^{t_i} = [x_i, y_i]$. We may choose a cyclic series $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ for $Z(\Gamma)$ such that $H_i = \langle z_s \rangle_{s=1}^i$. Induction implies that there exists a cyclic series $\{\Lambda_i\}_{i=1}^k$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\lambda_i\}_{i=1}^k$ for $\Gamma/Z(\Gamma)$. For $1 \leq i \leq \ell$, we set $\Delta_i = H_i$, and

for $\ell + 1 \leq i \leq \ell + k$, we set $\Delta_i = \pi_{Z(\Gamma)}^{-1}(\Lambda_{i-\ell})$. For $1 \leq i \leq \ell$, we set $\xi_i = z_i$. For $\ell + 1 \leq i \leq \ell + k$, we choose a ξ_i such that $\pi_{Z(\Gamma)}(\xi_i) = \lambda_{i-\ell}$. It then follows that $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell+k}$ is a cyclic series for Γ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell+k}$. Moreover, the given construction implies that

$$h(\Gamma) = \sum_{i=1}^{c(\Gamma)} \operatorname{rank}_{\mathbb{Z}} (Z^{i}(\Gamma)/Z^{i-1}(\Gamma)).$$

Whenever Γ is a finitely generated nilpotent group, we choose the cyclic series and compatible generating subset this way.

Another way to calculate the Hirsch length of a finitely generated nilpotent group is to use successive quotients of the lower central series. In particular, we have that

$$h(\Gamma) = \sum_{i=1}^{c(\Gamma)} \operatorname{rank}_{\mathbb{Z}}(\Gamma_i / \Gamma_{i+1}).$$

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. [17, Thm 6.5] implies that multiplication of $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ can be expressed as polynomials in terms of the Mal'tsev basis associated to the cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and the compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Specifically, we may write

$$\gamma \eta = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_i^{a_i}\right) \cdot \left(\prod_{j=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_j^{b_j}\right) = \prod_{s=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_s^{d_s}$$

where each d_s can be expressed as a polynomial in the Mal'stev coordinates of γ and η , respectively. Similarly, we may write

$$\gamma^{\ell} = \left(\prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_i^{a_i}\right)^{\ell} = \prod_{j=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_j^{e_j}$$

where each e_j can be expressed as a polynomial in the Mal'tsev coordinates of γ and the integer ℓ .

The polynomials that define the group product and group power operation of Γ with respect to the given cyclic series and compatible generating subset have unique extensions to $\mathbb{R}^{h(\Gamma)}$. That implies the Mal'tsev completion of Γ , denoted G, is diffeomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{h(\Gamma)}$ (see [17, Thm 6.5], [23, Cor 1.126]). Consequently, the dimension and step length of G are equal to the Hirsch length and step length of Γ , respectively. Thus, we may write $h(\Gamma) = \dim(G)$. We may also identify Γ with its image in G which is the set $\mathbb{Z}^{h(\Gamma)}$.

The following definition will be of use for the last lemma of this subsection.

Definition 2.7. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group, and let $\Delta \leq \Gamma$ be a subgroup. We define the *isolator of* Δ *in* Γ as the subset given by

$$\sqrt[\Gamma]{\Delta} = \{\gamma \in \Gamma \mid \text{ there exists a } k \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } \gamma^k \in \Delta\} \cup \{1\}.$$

By the paragraph proceeding exercise 8 of [36, Ch 8] and [17, Thm 4.5], $\sqrt[\Gamma]{\Delta}$ is a subgroup such that $|\sqrt[\Gamma]{\Delta} : \Delta| < \infty$ when Γ is a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. If Γ is abelian, then we may write

$$\Gamma = (\Gamma / \sqrt[\Gamma]{\Delta}) \oplus \sqrt[\Gamma]{\Delta}.$$

When $\Delta \leq \Gamma$, we have that $\Gamma / \sqrt[\Gamma]{\Delta}$ is torsion-free.

We finish this section with the following result. When given an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , the following lemma relates the word length of an element γ in Γ to the Mal'tsev coordinates of γ with respect to a cyclic series and a compatible generating subset.

Lemma 2.8. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^k$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^k$. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that $\|\gamma\|_S \leq n$. There exists some $C \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|\alpha_i| \leq C n^{c(\Gamma)}$ for all i, where (α_i) are the Mal'tsev coordinates of γ .

Proof. We proceed by induction on step length, and observe that the base case of abelian groups is clear. Now suppose $c(\Gamma) > 1$ and that $\|\gamma\|_{\mathcal{S}} \leq n$. Since $\|\pi_{\Gamma_i}(\gamma)\|_{\pi_{\Gamma_i}(S)} \leq n$, the inductive hypothesis implies that there exists a constant $C_0 > 0$ such that $|\alpha_i| \leq C_0 n^t$ when $\pi_{\Gamma_t}(\xi_i) \neq 1$ and $\pi_{\Gamma_{t-1}}(\xi_i) = 1$. Let k be the length of the cyclic series Δ_i , and let $\mathcal{S} \subset \{1, \ldots, k\}$ be the set of indices such that $\xi_{i_s} \notin \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$ for $i \in \mathcal{S}$ and $\xi_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, otherwise.

We will demonstrate that there exists some constant $C_1 > 0$ such that the element

$$\zeta = \left(\pi_{i=1, i \notin S}^k \, \xi_i^{\alpha_i}\right)^{-1} \quad \text{satisfies} \quad \|\zeta\|_S \le C_1 \, n.$$

Suppose for some $i \notin S$ that $\pi_{\Gamma_t}(\xi_i) \neq 1$ and where $\pi_{\Gamma_{t-1}}(\xi_i) = 1$. We have by induction that $|\alpha_i| \leq C_0 n^t$. By [16, 3.B2], we have that $\|\xi_i^{\alpha_i}\|_S \approx |\alpha_i|^{1/t}$. Thus, there exists a constant $C_2 > 0$ such that $\|\xi_i^{\alpha_i}\|_S \leq C_2 |\alpha_i|^{1/t}$ when $\operatorname{Ord}_{\Gamma}(\xi_i) = \infty$. Therefore, we may write $\|\xi_i^{\alpha_i}\|_S \leq C_3 n$ for some $C_3 > 0$. By letting $C_4 = \max \{C_3, |T(\Gamma)|\}$, it follows that $\|\xi_i\|_S \leq C_4 n$ for all $i \notin S$. In particular, we may write

$$\|\eta\|_{S} = \|\gamma\,\zeta\|_{S} \le \|\gamma\|_{S} + \|\zeta\|_{S} \le C_{5}\,n$$

for some constant $C_5 > 0$. By taking $C_1 = C_5$, we have our statement. Thus, we may assume that $\gamma \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$.

We may write $\gamma = \prod_{i \in S} \xi_i^{\alpha_i}$. If we let $\lambda_t = \prod_{i \in S, i \neq t} \xi_i^{-\alpha_i}$, it is evident that $\|\lambda_t\|_S \leq n$. Thus, we may write

$$\|\xi_t^{\alpha_t}\|_S = \|\gamma \lambda_t\|_S \le \|\gamma\|_S + \|\lambda_t\|_S \le 4 C_6 n$$

for some $C_6 > 0$. Thus, we need only consider when $\gamma = \xi_i^{\alpha_i}$ for $\xi_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$. Since $\xi_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, [16, 3.B2] implies that $|\alpha_i| \leq C_7 n^{c(\Gamma)}$ for some $C_7 \in \mathbb{N}$. \Box

Part II. Technical tools

3. Admissible quotients

In the following subsection, we define what an admissible quotient with respect to a central, nontrivial element is, what a maximal admissible quotient is, and define the constants $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ and $\psi_{\rm Lower}(\Gamma)$ for an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ .

3.1. Existence of admissible quotients. The following proposition will be useful throughout this article.

Proposition 3.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group, and suppose that γ is a central, nontrivial element. There exists a normal subgroup Λ in Γ such that Γ/Λ is an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group such that $Z(\Gamma/\Lambda) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ and where $\langle \pi_{\Lambda}(\gamma) \rangle$ is a finite index subgroup of $Z(\Gamma/\Lambda)$. If γ is primitive, then $Z(\Gamma/\Lambda) \cong \langle \pi_{\Lambda}(\gamma) \rangle$.

Proof. We construct Λ by induction on Hirsch length, and since the base case is trivial, we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. If $Z(\Gamma) \cong \mathbb{Z}$, then the proposition is now evident by letting $\Lambda = \{1\}$.

Now assume that $h(Z(\Gamma)) \geq 2$. There exists a basis $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ for $Z(\Gamma)$ such that $z_1^k = \gamma$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$. Letting $K = \langle z_i \rangle_{i=2}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$, we note that $K \leq \Gamma$ and $\pi_K(\gamma) \neq 1$. Additionally, it follows that Γ/K is a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. If $h(Z(\Gamma/K)) = 1$, then our proposition is evident by defining $\Lambda = K$.

Now suppose that $h(Z(\Gamma/K)) \geq 2$. Since $h(\Gamma/K) < h(\Gamma)$, the inductive hypothesis implies that there exists a subgroup Λ_1 such that $\Lambda_1 \leq \Gamma/K$ and where $(\Gamma/K)/\Lambda_1$ is a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. Letting $\rho : \Gamma/K \to (\Gamma/K)/\Lambda_1$ be the natural projection, induction additionally implies that $\langle \rho(\pi_K(\gamma)) \rangle$ is a finite index subgroup of $Z((\Gamma/K)/\Lambda_1)$. Taking $\Lambda_2 = \pi_K^{-1}(\Lambda_1)$, we note that $\Lambda_2/K \cong \Lambda_1$. Thus, the third isomorphism theorem implies that $(\Gamma/K)/(\Lambda_2/K) \cong \Gamma/\Lambda_2$. Hence, Γ/Λ_2 is a torsionfree, finitely generated nilpotent group, and by construction, $\langle \pi_{\Lambda_2}(\gamma) \rangle$ is a finite index subgroup of $Z(\Gamma/\Lambda_2)$.

Letting Λ satisfy the hypothesis of the proposition for γ , we now demonstrate that Γ/Λ is irreducible. Suppose for a contradiction that there exists a pair of nontrivial, finitely generated nilpotent groups Δ_1 and Δ_2 such that $\Gamma/\Lambda \cong \Delta_1 \times \Delta_2$. Since Γ/Λ is torsion-free, Δ_1 and Δ_2 are torsion-free. Thus, $Z(\Delta_1)$ and $Z(\Delta_2)$ are torsion-free, finitely generated abelian groups. Hence, \mathbb{Z}^2 is isomorphic to a subgroup of $Z(\Gamma/\Lambda)$. Subsequently, $h(Z(\Gamma/\Lambda)) \geq 2$ which is a contradiction. Thus, either $\Delta_1 \cong \{1\}$ or $\Delta_2 \cong \{1\}$, and subsequently, Γ/Λ is irreducible.

As a natural corollary of the proof of Proposition 3.1, we have the following. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. For a central element $\xi_{i_0} \in \{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, the next proposition demonstrates that there exists a normal subgroup $\Lambda \leq \Gamma$ such that Γ/Λ satisfies Proposition 3.1 for ξ_{i_0} . Moreover, Λ is generated by a subset $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ of the compatible generating subset.

Corollary 3.2. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let ξ_{i_0} be a central element of $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. There exists a normal subgroup $\Lambda \leq \Gamma$ such that Γ/Λ satisfies the conditions of Proposition 3.1 for ξ_{i_0} . Moreover, there exists a subset, possibly empty, $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ of the compatible generating subset satisfying the following. The subgroups $W_t = \langle \xi_{i_j} \rangle_{j=1}^t$ form a cyclic series for Λ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$.

Definition 3.3. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$ be a central, nontrivial element, and let \mathcal{J} be the set of subgroups of Γ that satisfy Proposition 3.1 for γ . Since the set $\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda) \mid \Lambda \in \mathcal{J}\}$ is bounded below by 1, there exists an $\Omega \in \mathcal{J}$ such that

$$h(\Gamma/\Omega) = \min\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda) \mid \Lambda \in \mathcal{J}\}.$$

We say Γ/Ω is an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to γ .

For a primitive element $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$, we let Γ/Λ_1 and Γ/Λ_2 be two different admissible quotients of Γ with respect to γ . In general, $\Gamma/\Lambda_1 \ncong \Gamma/\Lambda_2$. On the other hand, we have, by definition, that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_1) = h(\Gamma/\Lambda_2)$. Subsequently, the Hirsch length of an admissible quotient with respect to γ is a natural invariant of Γ associated to γ . Such a quotient corresponds to a torsion-free quotient of Γ of minimal Hirsch length such that γ has a nontrivial image that generates a finite index subgroup of the center. That will be useful in finding the smallest finite quotient in which γ has a nontrivial image.

Definition 3.4. Let Γ be a non-abelian, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. For each element $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$, we let Γ/Λ_{γ} be an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to γ . Let \mathcal{J} be the set of $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$ such that there exists a $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$ such that $\gamma^k = [a, b]$ where $a \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $b \in \Gamma$. Observe that the set $\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \mid \gamma \in \mathcal{J})\}$ is bounded above by $h(\Gamma)$. Thus, there exists an $\eta \in \mathcal{J}$ such that

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\eta}) = \max \left\{ h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \mid \gamma \in \mathcal{J} \right\}.$$

We say that Γ/Λ_{η} is a maximal admissible quotient of Γ . When Γ is a torsion-free, finitely generated abelian group, we take any admissible quotient with respect to any central element and denote it as a maximal admissible quotient.

For an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , we now define the constants $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ and $\psi_{\rm Lower}(\Gamma)$.

Definition 3.5. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. We let $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))/\Lambda$ be a maximal admissible quotient of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$. We then set

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = h((\Gamma/T(\Gamma))/\Lambda).$$

Assuming that Γ is not virtually abelian, we define

$$\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma) = \psi_{\text{RF}}(\Gamma) \left(c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma)) - 1 \right).$$

Suppose that Γ/Λ_1 and Γ/Λ_2 are two maximal admissible quotients of Γ when Γ is torsion-free. In general, $\Gamma/\Lambda_1 \ncong \Gamma/\Lambda_2$. However,

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_1) = h(\Gamma/\Lambda_2) = \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$$

by definition; hence, $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ is a well defined invariant of Γ . Similarly, we have that $\psi_{\rm Lower}(\Gamma)$ is a well defined invariant of finitely generated nilpotent groups that are not virtually abelian.

A natural observation is that if $h(Z(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))) = 1$, then

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = h(\Gamma).$$

Additionally, if Γ is an infinite, finitely generated abelian group, then

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = 1$$

Finally, if Γ is a finitely generated nilpotent group that is not virtually abelian where $h(Z(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))) = 1$, then

$$\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma) = h(\Gamma)(c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma)) - 1).$$

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a primitive element $\gamma \in Z(\Gamma)^{\bullet}$, and let Γ/Λ be an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to γ . The next proposition demonstrates that we may choose a cyclic series and a compatible generating subset such that a subset of the compatible generating subset generates Λ .

Proposition 3.6. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group, and let γ be a primitive, central, nontrivial element. Let Γ/Λ be an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to γ . Then there exists a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ such that Γ/Λ is an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to ξ_1 where $\gamma = \xi_1$. Moreover, there exists a subset, possibly empty, $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ of the compatible generating subset satisfying the following. The subgroups $W_t = \langle \xi_{i_j} \rangle_{j=1}^t$ form a cyclic series for Λ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$.

Proof. We proceed by induction on $h(\Gamma)$, and note that the base case of $h(\Gamma) = 1$ is evident. Thus, we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. If $h(Z(\Gamma)) = 1$, then $\Lambda \cong \{1\}$; hence, we may take any cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a

compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ where $\xi_1 = \gamma$. Therefore, we may assume that $h(Z(\Gamma)) > 1$.

There exists a generating basis $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ for $Z(\Gamma)$ such that $z_1 = \gamma$. Letting $K = \langle z_i \rangle_{i=2}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$, we note that $K \leq \Lambda$. Observe that $(\Gamma/K)/(\Lambda/K)$ is an admissible quotient of Γ/K with respect to $\pi_K(\gamma)$ for the group Γ/K . Induction implies that there exists a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i/K\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma/K)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\pi_K(\xi_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma/K)}$ such that there exists a subset $\{\pi_K(\xi_{i_j})\}_{j=1}^{h(\Gamma/K)}$ form a cyclic series for Λ/K with a compatible generating subset $\{\pi_K(\xi_{i_j})\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda/K)}$. We let $H_i = \langle z_s \rangle_{s=1}^i$ for $1 \leq i \leq h(Z(\Gamma))$ and for $i > h(Z(\Gamma))$, we let $H_i = \langle \{K\} \cup \{\xi_t\}_{t=1}^{i-h(K)} \rangle$. We also take $\eta_i = z_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq h(Z(\Gamma))$ and for $i > h(Z(\Gamma))$ and for $i > h(Z(\Gamma))$, we take $\eta_i = \xi_{i-h(Z(\Gamma))}$. Thus, $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is cyclic series for Γ with a compatible generating subset $\{\eta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$.

Consider the subset $\{\eta_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ where $\eta_{i_j} = z_{j+1}$ for $1 \leq j \leq h(K)$ and where $\eta_{i_j} = \xi_{i_{j-h(K)}}$ for j > h(K). Thus, one can see that $\{\eta_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ is the required subset.

For the next two propositions, we establish some notation. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. For each primitive element $\gamma \in Z(\Gamma)^{\bullet}$, we let Γ/Λ_{γ} be an admissible quotient with respect to γ .

We demonstrate that we may calculate $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ for Γ when given a generating basis for $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))_{c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))}$.

Proposition 3.7. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group, and let $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ be a basis of $Z(\Gamma)$. Moreover, assume there exist integers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ such that $\{z_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ is a basis of $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$ and that there exist $a_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $b_i \in \Gamma$ such that $z_i^{t_i} = [a_i, b_i]$. For each $\gamma \in {}^{Z(\Gamma)} \sqrt{\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}}$, there exists an $i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})\}$ such that $\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_0}}$ is an admissible quotient with respect to γ . More generally, if $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ is any basis of $Z(\Gamma)$ with $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$, then there exists an i_0 such that $\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_0}}$ is an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to γ .

Proof. Letting $M = z_{(\Gamma)} \sqrt{\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}}$, we may write $\gamma = \prod_{i=1}^{h(M)} z_i^{\alpha_i}$. There exist indices $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_{\ell} \leq h(M)$ such that $\alpha_{i_j} \neq 0$ for $1 \leq j \leq \ell$ and $\alpha_i = 0$, otherwise. We observe that $\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_t}}$ satisfies the conditions of Proposition 3.1 for γ for each $1 \leq t \leq \ell$. Therefore,

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \le \min\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_*}}) \mid 1 \le t \le \ell\}.$$

Since $\pi_{\Lambda_{\gamma}}(\gamma) \neq 1$, there exists i_{t_0} such that $\pi_{\Lambda_{\gamma}}(z_{i_{t_0}}) \neq 1$. Thus, Γ/Λ_{γ} satisfies the conditions of Proposition 3.1 for $z_{i_{t_0}}$. Thus, $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_{t_0}}}) \leq h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma})$.

In particular,

$$\min\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_t}}) \mid 1 \le t \le \ell\} \le h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}).$$

Therefore,

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) = \min\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_t}}) \mid 1 \le i \le \ell\}.$$

The last statement follows using similar reasoning.

The following proposition demonstrates that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ can always be realized as the Hirsch length of an admissible quotient with respect to a central element of a fixed basis of $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$.

Proposition 3.8. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a basis $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ for $Z(\Gamma)$. Moreover, assume there exist integers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ such that $\{z_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ is a basis of $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$ and that there exist elements $a_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $b_i \in \Gamma$ such that $z_i^{t_i} = [a_i, b_i]$. There exists an $i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})\}$ such that $\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma) = h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_0}})$. Hence,

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = \max\left\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_i}) \mid 1 \le i \le h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})\right\}.$$

More generally, if $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ is any basis of $Z(\Gamma)$, then

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = max\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_i}) \mid 1 \le i \le h(Z(\Gamma))\}.$$

Proof. Let \mathcal{J} be the set of central, nontrivial elements γ such that there exists a $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$ where γ^k is a $c(\Gamma)$ -fold commutator bracket. Given that the set $\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) | \gamma \in \mathcal{J}\}$ is bounded above by $h(\Gamma)$, there exists a nontrivial element $\eta \in \mathcal{J}$ such that

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\eta}) = \max\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \mid \gamma \in \mathcal{J}\}.$$

Proposition 3.7 implies that there exists an $i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, h(Z(\Gamma))\}$ such that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\eta}) = h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_{i_0}})$. By the definition of $\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)$, it follows that

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = \max\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{z_i}) \mid 1 \le i \le h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})\}$$

The last statement follows using similar reasoning.

3.2. Properties of admissible quotients. We demonstrate conditions for an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to some primitive, central, nontrivial element to have the same step length as Γ .

Proposition 3.9. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. If we let $\gamma \in \left({}^{Z(\Gamma)} \sqrt{\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}} \right)^{\bullet}$ be a primitive element with an admissible quotient Γ/Λ with respect to γ , then $c(\Gamma/\Lambda) = c(\Gamma)$. In particular, if Γ/Λ is a maximal admissible quotient of Γ , then $c(\Gamma/\Lambda) = c(\Gamma)$. If $c(\Gamma) > 1$, then $h(\Gamma/\Lambda) \geq 3$.

Proof. By definition, there exists a $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$ such that $\gamma^k \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$. Suppose for a contradiction that $c(\Gamma/\Lambda) < c(\Gamma)$. We then have that $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)} \leq \ker(\pi_{\Lambda})$, and hence, $\pi_{\Lambda}(\gamma^k) = 1$. Since Γ/Λ is torsion-free, it follows that $\pi_{\Lambda}(\gamma) = 1$. That contradicts the construction of Γ/Λ , and thus, $c(\Gamma/\Lambda) = c(\Gamma)$.

Since every irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ such that $c(\Gamma) \geq 2$ contains a subgroup isomorphic to the 3-dimensional integral Heisenberg group, we have that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda) \geq 3$.

The following proposition relates the value $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ to the value $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Lambda)$ when Λ is a torsion-free quotient of Γ of lower step length.

Proposition 3.10. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. If $M = {}^{Z(\Gamma)} / \overline{\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}}$, then $\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma) \geq \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma/M)$.

Proof. There exist elements $\{z_i\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma/M))}$ and integers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N)}$ satisfying the following. The set $\{\pi_M(z_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma/M))}$ generates $Z(\Gamma/M)$ and that there exist $a_i \in (\Gamma/M)_{c(\Gamma)-2}$ and $b_i \in \Gamma/M$ such that $\pi_M([a_i, b_i]) = \pi_M(z_i^{t_i})$. Finally, the set $\left\langle \{\pi_M(z_i)^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(N)} \right\rangle$ generates $Z(\Gamma/M) \langle (\Gamma/M)_{c(\Gamma)-1}$.

There exist $\gamma_i \in \Gamma$ such that the elements $\{[z_i, \gamma_i]\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ generate $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$. Finally, there exist elements $\{y_i\}_{i=1}^{h(M)}$ in $Z(\Gamma)$ and integers $\{s_i\}_{i=1}^{h(M)}$ such that $y_i^{s_i} = [z_i, \gamma_i]$. For each $i \in \{1, \ldots, h(M)\}$, we let Γ/Λ_i be an admissible quotient with respect to y_i .

Let $(\Gamma/M)/\Omega_i$ be an admissible quotient of Γ/M with respect to $\pi_M(z_i)$. It is evident that $\Lambda_i \leq \pi_M^{-1}(\Omega_i)$. Thus, it follows that

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_i) \ge h(\Gamma/\pi_M^{-1}(\Omega_i)) = h((\Gamma/M)/\Omega_i).$$

Proposition 3.8 implies that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) \geq h((\Gamma/M)/\Omega_i)$. Applying Proposition 3.8 again, we have that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) \geq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma/M)$.

This last proposition demonstrates that the definition of $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ is the maximum value over all possible Hirsch lengths of admissible quotients with respect to primitive, central, nontrivial elements of Γ .

Proposition 3.11. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. For each primitive element $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$, we let Γ/Λ_{γ} be an admissible quotient with respect to γ . Then

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = max\{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \mid \gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}\}.$$

Proof. Suppose that Γ is abelian. We then have that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) = 1$ for all primitive elements. Therefore, we have our statement, and thus, we may assume that $c(\Gamma) > 1$.

Let $M = {}^{Z(\Gamma)} \sqrt{\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}}$, and let $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$. There exists a basis $\{z_i\}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$ for $Z(\Gamma)$ and integers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ such that $\{z_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})}$ is a basis for $\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$. Moreover, there exist $a_i \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $b_i \in \Gamma$ such that $z_i^{t_i} = [a_i, b_i]$. If $\gamma \in M$, then by definition of $\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)$ and Proposition 3.8, we have that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \leq \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)$. Thus, we may assume that $\gamma \notin M$.

Since $\gamma \notin M$, $\pi_M(\gamma) \neq 1$. Hence, it is evident that $(\Gamma/M)/\pi_M(\Lambda_{\gamma})$ satisfies Proposition 3.1 for $\pi_M(\gamma)$. Thus, if $(\Gamma/M)/\Omega$ is an admissible quotient with respect to $\pi_M(\gamma)$, we note that $\Gamma/\pi_K^{-1}(\Omega)$ satisfies Proposition 3.1 for γ . Thus, by definition,

$$h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma}) \le h(\Gamma/\pi_{K}^{-1}(\Omega)) \le h((\Gamma/M)/\Omega) \le \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma/M).$$

Proposition 3.10 implies that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma/M) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$. Thus,

 $h(Z(\Gamma/\Lambda_{\gamma})) \leq \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma).$

Definition 3.12. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a maximal admissible quotient Γ/Λ . Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . We take the Mal'tsev completion G to be constructed as defined in §2.4 with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . We observe that the vectors $\operatorname{Log}(\xi_i)$ span \mathfrak{g} . We call the subset $\{\operatorname{Log}(\xi_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ an *induced basis* for \mathfrak{g} .

4. Commutator geometry and lower bounds for residual finiteness

The following definitions and propositions will be important in the construction of the lower bounds found in the proof of Theorem 1.1.

4.1. Finite index subgroups and cyclic series. The following proposition tells us how to view finite index subgroups in light of a cyclic series and a compatible generating subset.

Proposition 4.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let $K \leq \Gamma$ be a finite index subgroup. Then there exist natural numbers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ satisfying the following. The subgroups $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ given by

$$H_i = \left\langle \xi_s^{t_s} \right\rangle_{s=1}^i$$

form a cyclic series for K with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$.

Proof. We proceed by induction on Hirsch length. For the base case, we have that $\Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}$ and that $K \cong t\mathbb{Z}$ for some $t \ge 1$. Now the statement of the proposition is evident by choosing $H_1 = K$ and the compatible generating subset is given by $\{t\}$.

Thus, we may assume $h(\Gamma) > 1$. Observing that $\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1} \cap K$ is a finite index subgroup of $\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1}$ and that $h(\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1}) = h(\Gamma) - 1$, the inductive hypothesis implies that there exist natural numbers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ satisfying the following. The groups $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)-1}$ given by $H_i = \langle \xi_s^{t_s} \rangle_{s=1}^i$ form a cyclic series for $\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1} \cap K$ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)-1}$. We also have that $\pi_{\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1}}(K)$ is a finite index subgroup of $\Gamma/\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1}$. Thus, there exists a $t_{h(\Gamma)} \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$K/\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1} \cong \left\langle \pi_{\Delta_{h(\Gamma)-1}} \left(\xi_{h(\Gamma)}^{t_{h(\Gamma)}} \right) \right\rangle.$$

If we set $H_{h(\Gamma)} \cong \left\langle H_{h(\Gamma)-1}, \xi_{h(\Gamma)}^{t_{h(\Gamma)}} \right\rangle$, then the groups $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ form a cyclic series for K with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. \Box

We now apply Proposition 4.1 to give a description of the subgroups of Γ of the form Γ^m for $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Corollary 4.2. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let $m \in \mathbb{N}$. The subgroups $H_i = \langle \xi_s^m \rangle_{s=1}^i$ form a cyclic series for Γ^m with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i^m\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. In particular,

$$|\Gamma/\Gamma^m| = m^{h(\Gamma)}.$$

Proof. Proposition 4.1 implies that there exist natural numbers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ such that the subgroups $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ given by $H_i = \langle \xi_s^{t_s} \rangle_{s=1}^i$ form a cyclic series for Γ^m with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. We observe that $(\Gamma/\Delta_1)^m \cong (\Gamma^m/\Delta_1)$. It is also evident that the series $\{H_i/\Delta_1\}_{i=2}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is a cyclic series for $(\Gamma/\Delta_1)^m$ with a compatible generating subset $\{\pi_{\Delta_1}(\xi_i^{t_i})\}_{i=2}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Thus, the inductive hypothesis implies that $t_i = m$ for all $2 \le i \le h(\Gamma)$. To finish, we observe that $\Gamma^m \cap \Delta_1 \cong \Delta_1^m$. Thus, $t_1 = m$.

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group, and let $K \leq \Gamma$ be a finite index subgroup. The following proposition allows us to understand how K intersects a fixed admissible quotient of Γ with respect to a primitive, central, nontrivial element.

Proposition 4.3. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a maximal admissible quotient Γ/Λ . Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . Let K be a finite index subgroup of Γ . There exist indices $1 \leq i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_\ell \leq h(\Gamma)$ with natural numbers $\{t_s\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$ such that the subgroups $H_s = \left\langle \xi_{i_j}^{t_j} \right\rangle_{j=1}^s$ form a cyclic series for $K \cap \Lambda$ with compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_s}^{t_s}\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$.

Proof. We proceed by induction on Hirsch length, and since the base case is clear, we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. By assumption, the cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ together satisfy the conditions of Proposition 3.6 for Λ . Thus, there exists indices $1 \leq i_1 < i_2 < \cdots < i_\ell$ such that the subgroups $M_j = \langle \xi_{i_s} \rangle_{s=1}^j$ form a cyclic series for Λ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_s}\}_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$. Applying Proposition 4.1 to the torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, we have that there exist natural numbers $\{t_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ such that the subgroups given by $W_i = \langle \xi_s^{t_s} \rangle_{s=1}^i$ form

a cyclic series for K with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i^{t_i}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Since $K \cap \Lambda$ is a finite index subgroup of Λ , the subgroups given by $H_s = \left\langle \xi_{i_j}^{t_{i_j}} \right\rangle_{j=1}^s$ form the desired cyclic series for $K \cap \Lambda$ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_s}^{t_{i_s}}\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$. Therefore, $\{t_{i_s}\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$ are the desired integers. \Box

4.2. Reduction of complexity for residual finiteness. We first demonstrate that we may assume that Γ is torsion-free when calculating $F_{\Gamma}(n)$.

Proposition 4.4. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. Then

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(n).$$

Proof. We proceed by induction on $|T(\Gamma)|$, and observe that the base case is evident. Thus, we may assume that $|T(\Gamma)| > 1$. Note that

$$\pi_{Z(T(\Gamma))}: \Gamma \to \Gamma/Z(T(\Gamma))$$

is surjective and that $\ker(\pi_{Z(T(\Gamma))}) = Z(T(\Gamma))$ is a finite central subgroup. Since finitely generated nilpotent groups are linear, [7, Lem 2.4] implies that $F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma/T(Z(\Gamma))}(n)$. Since

$$(\Gamma/Z(T(\Gamma)))/T(\Gamma/Z(T(\Gamma))) \cong \Gamma/T(\Gamma)$$

the inductive hypothesis implies that $F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(n)$.

For a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , the following proposition implies that we may pass to a maximal admissible quotient of Γ when computing the lower bounds of $F_{\Gamma}(n)$.

Proposition 4.5. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a maximal admissible quotient Γ/Λ . Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . If $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite group, then $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \neq 1$ if and only if $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)}(\varphi(\xi_1^m)) \neq 1$ where $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. If $\Lambda \cong \{1\}$, then there is nothing to prove. Thus, we may assume that $\Lambda \ncong \{1\}$. Proposition 3.6 implies that $\xi_1 \notin \Lambda$ and that there exists a collection of elements of the Mal'tsev basis $\{\xi_{i_s}\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$ such that $\Lambda \cong \langle \xi_{i_s} \rangle_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$. Moreover, we have that $H_s = \langle \xi_{i_t} \rangle_{t=1}^s$ is cyclic series for Λ with compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_s}\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$. Proposition 4.3 implies that there exist natural numbers $\{t_s\}_{s=1}^{\ell}$ such that the series of subgroups $\{W_s\}_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ given by

$$W_s = \left\langle \xi_{i_j}^{t_j} \right\rangle_{j=1}^s$$

forms a cyclic series for $\ker(\varphi) \cap \Lambda$ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_s}^{t_s}\}_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$.

Since the backwards direction is clear, we proceed with forward direction. To be more specific, we demonstrate that if $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \neq 1$, then $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)}(\xi_1^m) \neq 1$.

We proceed by induction on $|\varphi(\Lambda)|$, and observe that the base case is clear. Thus, we may assume that $|\varphi(\Lambda)| > 1$. In order to apply the inductive hypothesis, we find a nontrivial, normal subgroup $M \leq Z(Q)$ such that $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \notin M$.

We first observe that if $\varphi(\xi_{i_0}) \neq 1$ for some $i_0 \in \{2, \ldots, h(Z(\Gamma))\}$, we may set $M = \langle \varphi(\xi_{i_0}) \rangle$. It is straightforward to see that $M \not\cong \{1\}$ and that $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \notin M$. Thus, we may assume that $\xi_i \in \ker(\varphi)$ for $i \in \{2, \ldots, h(Z(\Gamma))\}$.

In this next paragraph, we prove that there exists an element of the compatible generating subset, say ξ_{i_0} , such that $\xi_{i_0} \in \Lambda$, $\xi_{i_0} \notin \ker(\varphi)$, and $\varphi(\xi_{i_0}) \in Z(Q)$. To that end, we note that if $|t_{i_s}| = 1$, then $\xi_{i_s} \in \ker(\varphi)$. Since $|\varphi(\Lambda)| > 1$, the set $E = \{\xi_{i_s} \mid |t_{i_s}| \neq 1\}$ is non empty. Given that E is a finite set, there exists a $\xi_{i_{s_0}} \in E$ such that

$$\operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_0}}) = \min\{\operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_s}) \mid \xi_{i_s} \in E\}.$$

We claim that $\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_0}})$ is central in Q, and since we are assuming that $\varphi(\xi_i) = 1$ for $i \in \{2, \ldots, h(Z(\Gamma))\}$, we may assume that $\operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_0}}) > 1$. Since $\operatorname{Height}([\xi_{i_{s_0}}, \xi_t]) < \operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_0}})$ for any ξ_t and that $\varphi(\Lambda) \trianglelefteq Q$, it follows that $[\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_0}}), \varphi(\xi_t)] \in \varphi(\Lambda)$. Thus, $[\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_0}}), \varphi(\xi_t)]$ is a product of $\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_j}})$ where $\operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_j}}) < \operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_0}})$. Since $\xi_{i_{s_j}} \in \varphi(\Lambda)$ and $\operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_j}}) < \operatorname{Height}(\xi_{i_{s_0}})$, the definition of E and the choice of ξ_{i_0} imply that $t_{i_{s_j}} = 1$. Thus, $\xi_{i_{s_j}} \in \ker(\varphi)$, and subsequently, $\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_j}}) = 1$. Hence, $[\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_0}}), \varphi(\xi_t)] = 1$, and thus, $\varphi(\xi_{i_0}) \in (Z(Q))^{\bullet}$.

Since $\varphi(\xi_{i_{s_0}})$ is central in Q, the group $M = \langle \varphi(\xi_{i_0}) \rangle$ is a normal subgroup of Q. By selection, $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \notin M$, and since $|\pi_M(\varphi(\Lambda))| < |\varphi(\Lambda)|$, we may apply the inductive hypothesis to the surjective homomorphism

$$\pi_M \circ \varphi : \Gamma \to Q/M.$$

Letting $N = \pi_M \circ \varphi(\Lambda)$, we have that $\pi_N(\pi_M(\varphi(\xi_1^m))) \neq 1$. Thus,

$$\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)}(\xi_1^m) \neq 1.$$

As a natural consequence of the techniques used in the proof of the above proposition, we have the following corollary.

Corollary 4.6. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let ξ_{t_0} be a central element of $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. If Λ satisfies the conditions of Corollary 3.2 for ξ_{t_0} , then $\varphi(\xi_{t_0}) \neq 1$ if and only if $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\xi_{t_0}) \neq 1$.

4.3. Rank and step estimates.

Definition 4.7. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let $\vec{a} = (a_i)_{i=1}^{\ell}$ where $1 \leq a_i \leq h(\Gamma)$ for all *i*. We write

$$[\xi_{\vec{a}}] = [\xi_{a_1}, \ldots, \xi_{a_\ell}].$$

We call $[\xi_{\vec{a}}]$ a simple commutator of weight ℓ with respect to \vec{a} . Let

 $W_k(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$

be the set of nontrivial simple commutators of weight k. Since Γ is a nilpotent group, $W_{c(\Gamma)+1}$ is empty. Thus, the set of nontrivial simple commutators of any weight, denoted as $W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, is finite.

When considering a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$, we need to ensure that the step length of Q is equal to the step length of Γ . We do that by assuming that $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$ for all $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma)$.

Proposition 4.8. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ be a surjective homomorphism to a finite group such that if $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma)$, then $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$. Then $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$ for all $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$. Lastly, $c(\Gamma) = c(Q)$.

Proof. We first demonstrate that $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$ for all $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$ by induction on Height($[\xi_{\vec{a}}]$). Observe that if $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W_k(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, then Height($[\xi_{\vec{a}}]$) $\leq c(\Gamma) - k + 1$. Thus, if $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W_{c(\Gamma)}(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, then Height($[\xi_{\vec{a}}]$) = 1. Hence, the base case follows from assumption.

Now consider $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$ where $\text{Height}([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) = \ell > 1$. If $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in Z(\Gamma)$, then the assumptions of the proposition imply that $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$. Thus, we may assume there exists an element ξ_{i_0} of the Mal'tsev basis such that $[[\xi_{\vec{a}}], \xi_{i_0}] \neq 1$. The induction hypothesis implies that $\varphi([[\xi_{\vec{a}}], \xi_{i_0}]) \neq 1$ since $[[\xi_{\vec{a}}], \xi_{i_0}]$ is a simple commutator of $\text{Height}([[\xi_{\vec{a}}], \xi_{i_0}]) \leq \ell - 1$. Thus, $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$. Therefore, for each $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, it follows that $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$.

If $c(Q) < c(\Gamma)$, then φ factors through $\Gamma/\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, and thus,

$$W_{c(\Gamma)}(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \subseteq \ker(\varphi).$$

Since

$$W_{c(\Gamma)}(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \subseteq W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma),$$

we have a contradiction. Hence, $c(Q) = c(\Gamma)$.

The following definition will be important in the proofs of Theorem 1.1 and Theorem 1.8.

Definition 4.9. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. For $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, we may write $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] = \prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_i^{\delta_{\vec{a},i}}$. Let

$$\mathcal{B}(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) = \operatorname{lcm} \Big\{ |\delta_{\vec{a}, i}| \ \Big| \ 1 \le i \le h(\Gamma), \delta_{\vec{a}, i} \ne 0 \text{ and } [\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \Big\}.$$

Suppose that Γ is a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. For a surjective homomorphism to a finite *p*-group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$, the following proposition gives conditions so that $|Q| \ge p^{h(\Gamma)}$. To be more specific, if φ is

106

an injective map when restricted to the set of central simple commutators, is an injective map when restricted to central elements of a fixed compatible generating subset, and $p > B(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, then φ is an injection when restricted to that same compatible generating subset.

Proposition 4.10. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ be a surjective homomorphism to a finite p-group where $p > B(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$. Suppose that $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$ for all $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma)$. Also, suppose that $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq 1$ for $\xi_i \in Z(\Gamma)$ and $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$ for $\xi_i, \xi_j \in Z(\Gamma)$ where $i \neq j$. Then $\varphi(\xi_t) \neq 1$ for $1 \leq t \leq h(\Gamma)$ and $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$ for $1 \leq i < j \leq h(\Gamma)$. Finally, $|Q| \geq p^{h(\Gamma)}$.

Proof. Let $\xi_t \notin Z(\Gamma)$. By selection, there exists a ξ_s such that $[\xi_t, \xi_s] \neq 1$. Since $[\xi_t, \xi_s]$ is a simple commutator of weight 2, we have that $\varphi([\xi_t, \xi_s]) \neq 1$ by Proposition 4.8. Thus, $\varphi(\xi_t) \neq 1$.

We now demonstrate that $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$ for all $1 \leq i < j \leq h(\Gamma)$ by induction on $h(\Gamma)$. If $\xi_i, \xi_j \in Z(\Gamma)$, then by assumption, $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$. Now suppose that $\xi_i \in Z(\Gamma)$ and that $\xi_j \notin Z(\Gamma)$. Then there exists a ξ_s such that $[\xi_j, \xi_s] \neq 1$, and subsequently, the above paragraph implies that $\varphi([\xi_j, \xi_s]) \neq 1$. In particular, $\varphi(\xi_j) \notin Z(Q)$, and thus, $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$.

We now may assume that $\xi_i, \xi_j \notin Z(\Gamma)$. Proposition 3.2 implies that there exists a normal subgroup $\Lambda/K \leq \Gamma/K$ such that Λ/K satisfies the conditions of Proposition 3.1 for $\pi_K(\xi_i)$ where $K = \langle \xi_s \rangle_{s=1}^{i-1}$. Moreover, $\Lambda \cong \langle \xi_{i_\ell} \rangle_{\ell=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ where the subgroups given by $W_t = \langle \xi_{i_\ell} \rangle_{\ell=1}^t$ form a cyclic series for Λ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_\ell}\}_{\ell=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$. Thus, $\{\pi_\Lambda(\Delta_s)\}_{s=1,s\notin\mathcal{S}}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is a cyclic series for Γ/Λ with a compatible generating subset $\{\pi_\Lambda(\xi_s)\}_{s=1,s\notin\mathcal{S}}^{h(\Gamma)}$. That implies $\pi_\Lambda(W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)) = W(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_\Lambda(\Delta), \pi_\Lambda(\xi))$. For simplicity, we indicate elements of $W(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_\Lambda(\Delta), \pi_\Lambda(\xi))$ as $[\pi_\Lambda(\xi_{\vec{a}})]$.

Corollary 4.6 implies that $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i)) \neq 1$. Thus, we proceed based on whether $\varphi(\xi_j) \in \varphi(\Lambda)$ or not. If $\varphi(\xi_j) \in \varphi(\Lambda)$, then $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$ since $\varphi(\xi_i) \notin \varphi(\Lambda)$. Thus, we may assume that $\varphi(\xi_i), \varphi(\xi_j) \notin \varphi(\Lambda)$.

Since we have a homomorphism

$$\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi : \Gamma \to \Gamma/\varphi(\Lambda)$$

where $\Lambda \leq \ker(\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi)$, we obtain an induced homomorphism

$$\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi : \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$$

We now demonstrate the hypotheses of our proposition hold for the homomorphism $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi : \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$. Since $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i)) \neq 1$, it follows that $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_K(\xi_i)) \neq 1$. Thus, we have that $Z(\Gamma/\Lambda) \cong \langle \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i) \rangle$.

In particular, $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi$ is injective when restricted to the subset of central elements of the compatible generating subset for Γ/Λ given by $\{\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_s)\}$. For

each $[\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})] \in W(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_{\Lambda}(\Delta), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi))$, there exists a $[\xi_{\vec{b}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$ such that $\pi_{\Lambda}([\xi_{\vec{b}}]) = [\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})]$. We may write

$$\pi_{\Lambda}([\xi_{\vec{b}}]) = \pi_{\Lambda}\left(\prod_{s=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_{i}^{\delta_{\vec{b},s}}\right) = \prod_{s=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{s})^{\delta_{\vec{b},i}} = \prod_{s=1,s\neq\mathcal{S}}^{h(\Gamma)} \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{s})^{\delta_{\vec{a},s}} = [\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})].$$

By construction, $\delta_{\vec{b},i} = \delta_{\vec{a},i}$ for $1 \leq i \leq h(\Gamma)$ and $i \notin S$. By the definition of lcm, we have that

$$B(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \ge B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_{\Lambda}(\Delta), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi)).$$

Additionally, for

$$[\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})] \in W(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_{\Lambda}(\Delta), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi)) \cap Z(\Gamma/\Lambda)$$

we have that $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] = \xi_i^{\delta_{\vec{a},i}}$. Since $p > B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_\Lambda(\Delta), \pi_\Lambda(\xi))$, we have that

$$\operatorname{Ord}_{Q/\varphi(\Lambda)}(\widetilde{\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i))}) > p.$$

Thus, we have $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi([\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})]) \neq 1$ for all

$$[\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})] \in W(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_{\Lambda}(\Delta), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi)) \cap Z(\Gamma/\Lambda).$$

By the proof of the first statement, we have that $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_K(\xi_k)) \neq 1$ for $1 \leq k \leq h(\Gamma)$ where $k \notin S$. We also have that $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$ for all

 $[\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{\vec{a}})] \in W(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_{\Lambda}(\Delta), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi)).$

By construction, there exists a ξ_{s_0} such that $[\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_j), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{s_0})] \neq 1$. Proposition 4.8 implies that $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi([\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_j), \pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_{s_0})]) \neq 1$. Thus, it follows that

$$\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_j)) \notin Z(Q/\varphi(\Lambda))$$

whereas $\widetilde{\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i))} \in Z(Q/\varphi(\Lambda))$. Thus,

$$\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)}^{(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i)) \neq \pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)}^{(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_j)).$$

Given that $\widetilde{\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(g))} = \pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(g)$ for all $g \in \Gamma$, we have that

$$\pi_{\varphi(A)} \circ \varphi(\xi_i) \neq \pi_{\varphi(A)} \circ \varphi(\xi_j).$$

In particular, $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq \varphi(\xi_j)$.

Subsequently $\{\varphi(\xi_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is a generating subset of Q where $\operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\xi_i)) \geq p$ for all i. [17, Thm 1.10] implies that |Q| divides nonzero some power of $p^{h(\Gamma)}$. Hence, $|Q| \geq p^{h(\Gamma)}$.

Proposition 4.11. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group such that $h(Z(\Gamma)) = 1$ with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Suppose that $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite p-group such that $p > B(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)$, and suppose that $\varphi(\xi_1) \neq 1$. Then $c(\Gamma) = c(Q), Z(Q) = \langle \varphi(\xi_1) \rangle$, and $|Q| \ge p^{h(\Gamma)}$.

Proof. Since $\varphi(\xi_1) \neq 1$ and Q is p-group, we have that $\operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\xi_1)) \geq p$. We claim that if $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma)$, then $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$. Suppose for a contradiction that $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) = 1$ for some $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma)$. Since $\varphi(\xi_1^{\mathrm{B}(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)})$ is a power of $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}])$ by definition, we have that $\varphi(\xi_1^{\mathrm{B}(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi)}) = 1$. Thus, $\varphi(\xi_1)$ has order strictly less than p which is a contradiction.

Since $\varphi([\xi_{\vec{a}}]) \neq 1$ for all $[\xi_{\vec{a}}] \in W(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi) \cap Z(\Gamma)$, Proposition 4.8 implies that $c(\Gamma) = c(Q)$. On the other hand, Proposition 4.10 implies that $\varphi(\xi_i) \neq 1$ for all $1 \leq i \leq h(\Gamma)$ and $\varphi(\xi_{j_1}) \neq \varphi(\xi_{j_2})$ for all $1 \leq j_1 < j_2 \leq h(\Gamma)$. Thus, $\{\varphi(\Delta_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is a cyclic series for Q and $\{\varphi(\xi_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is a compatible generating subset for Q. Since Q is a p-group, we have that $|\varphi(\Delta_i) : \varphi(\Delta_{i-1})| \geq p$ for each $1 \leq i \leq h(\Gamma)$ with the convention that $\Delta_0 = \{1\}$. Hence, the second paragraph after [20, Defn 8.2] implies that

$$|Q| = \prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} |\Delta_i : \Delta_{i-1}| \ge p^{h(\Gamma)}.$$

We finish by demonstrating $Z(Q) = \langle \varphi(\xi_1) \rangle$. Since $\{\varphi(\Delta_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ is an ascending central series that is a refinement of the upper central series, there exists an i_0 such that $\varphi(\Delta_{i_0}) = Z(Q)$. For t > 1, there exists a $j \neq t$ such that $[\xi_t, \xi_j] \neq 1$. Since $[\xi_t, \xi_j]$ is a simple commutator of weight 2, Proposition 4.8 implies that $\varphi([\xi_t, \xi_j]) \neq 1$. Given that

$$\varphi([\xi_t, \xi_j]) = [\varphi(\xi_t), \varphi(\xi_j)],$$

it follows that $\varphi(\xi_t) \notin Z(Q)$. Thus, we have that $\varphi(\Delta_t) \geq Z(Q)$ for all t > 1. Hence, $Z(Q) = \langle \varphi(\xi_1) \rangle$.

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a maximal admissible quotient Γ/Λ . Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . Suppose that $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite group and $m \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$. The following proposition gives conditions such that Q has no nontrivial quotients in which $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \neq 1$.

Proposition 4.12. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a maximal admissible quotient Γ/Λ . Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . Suppose that $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite p-group where $\varphi(\Lambda) \cong \{1\}, p > B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \pi_\Lambda(\Delta), \pi_\Lambda(\xi)), and$ $|Q| \leq p^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$. If $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \neq 1$ for some $m \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $|Q| = p^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$. Additionally, if N is a proper quotient of Q, then $\rho(\varphi(\xi_1^m)) = 1$ where $\rho : Q \to N$ is the natural projection. Finally, $Z(Q) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$.

Proof. Let us first demonstrate that $|Q| = p^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$. Since $\Lambda \leq \ker(\varphi)$, we have an induced homomorphism $\widetilde{\varphi} : \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q$ such that $\widetilde{\varphi} \circ \pi_{\Lambda} = \varphi$. Hence,

Proposition 4.11 implies that $\varphi(Z(\Gamma/\Lambda)) \cong Z(Q)$ and $|Q| \ge p^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$. Thus, $|Q| = p^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}.$

We now demonstrate that $Z(Q) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. Since $\{\varphi(\pi_{\Lambda}(\Delta_i)) \mid \xi \notin \Lambda\}$ is a cyclic series for Q with a compatible generating $\{\varphi(\xi_i) \mid \xi_i \notin \Lambda\}$, it follows that

$$|Q| = \prod_{\xi_i \notin \Lambda} \operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\xi_i))$$

(see the second paragraph after [20, Defn 8.2]). Thus, we must have that $\operatorname{Ord}_{\mathcal{O}}(\varphi(\xi_i)) \leq p$. Since $\operatorname{Ord}_{\mathcal{O}}(\varphi(\xi_1)) \geq p$, we have that $\operatorname{Ord}_{\mathcal{O}}(\varphi(\xi_1)) = p$. Since $Z(Q) \cong \langle \varphi(\xi_1) \rangle$, it follows that $Z(Q) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$.

Since $Z(Q) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$, there are no proper, nontrivial, normal subgroups of Z(Q). Given that ker $(\rho) \leq Q$, we have that $Z(Q) \cap \ker(\rho) = Z(Q)$; hence, $\rho(\varphi(\xi_i^m)) = 1$ because $\varphi(\xi_1^m) \in Z(Q) \leq \ker(\rho)$. \square

5. Some examples of precise residual finiteness

To demonstrate the techniques used in the proof of Theorem 1.1, we make a precise calculation of $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$ where $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ is the (2m+1)dimensional integral Heisenberg group.

5.1. Basics facts about the integral Heisenberg group. We start by introducing basic facts about the (2m + 1)-dimensional integral Heisenberg group which will be useful in the calculation of $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$ and in Section 9. We may write

$$\mathbf{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) = \left\{ \left. \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \vec{x} & z \\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_m & \vec{y} \\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \right| z \in \mathbb{Z}, \ \vec{x}, \vec{y}^T \in \mathbb{Z}^m \right\}$$

where \mathbf{I}_m is the $m \times m$ identity matrix. If $\gamma \in \mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$, we write

$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \vec{x}_{\gamma} & z_{\gamma} \\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_m & \vec{y}_{\gamma} \\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\vec{x}_{\gamma} = [x_{\gamma,1}, \ldots, x_{\gamma,m}]$ and $\vec{y}_{\gamma}^T = [y_{\gamma,1}, \ldots, y_{\gamma,m}]$. We let $E = \{\vec{e}_i\}_{i=1}^m$ be the standard basis of \mathbb{Z}^m and then choose a generating subset for $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ given by $S = \{\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_m, \beta_1, \ldots, \beta_m, \lambda\}$ where

$$\alpha_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \vec{e_{i}} & 0\\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_{m} & \vec{0}\\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \beta_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \vec{0} & 0\\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_{m} & \vec{e}_{i}^{T}\\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{and} \ \lambda = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \vec{0} & 1\\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_{m} & \vec{0}\\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, if $\gamma \in B_{\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}),S}(n)$, then $\vec{x}_{\gamma}, \vec{x}_{\eta}, \vec{y}_{\gamma}^T, \vec{y}_{\eta}^T \in B_{\mathbb{Z}^m,E}(C_0 n)$ and $|z_{\gamma}| \leq C_0 |z_{\gamma}| \leq C_0 |z_{\gamma}| \leq C_0 |z_{\gamma}|$ $C_0 n^2$ for some $C_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ [16, 3.B2]. We obtain a finite presentation for $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ written as

 $\mathbf{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) = \langle \kappa, \mu_i, \nu_j \text{ for } 1 \leq i, j \leq m \mid [\mu_t, \nu_t] = \kappa \text{ for } 1 \leq t \leq m \rangle$ (4)with all other commutators being trivial.

Finally, we let $\Delta_1 = \langle \kappa \rangle$, $\Delta_i = \langle \{\kappa\} \cup \{\mu_s\} \rangle_{s=1}^{t-1}$ for $2 \leq i \leq m+1$, and $\Delta_i = \left\langle \{\Delta_{m+1}\}, \{\nu_t\}_{t=1}^{i-m-1} \right\rangle$ for $m+2 \leq i \leq 2m+1$. One can see that $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{2m+1}$ is a cyclic series for $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ and that S is a compatible generating subset.

5.2. Residual finiteness of H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}). The upper and lower bounds for $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$ require different strategies, so we approach them separately. We start with the upper bound as it is more straightforward.

Proposition 5.1. $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{2m+1}$.

Proof. For $\|\gamma\|_S \leq n$, we will construct a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$ and where

$$|Q| \le C_0 (\log(C_0 n))^{2m+1}$$

for some $C_0 > 0$.

Via the Mal'tsev basis, we may write

$$\gamma = \kappa^{\alpha} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{m} \mu_i^{\beta_i} \right) \left(\prod_{j=1}^{m} \nu_j^{\lambda_j} \right).$$

We proceed based on whether $\pi_{ab}(\gamma)$ is trivial or not.

Suppose that $\pi_{ab}(\gamma) \neq 1$. Since $\gamma \neq 1$, either $\beta_{i_0} \neq 0$ for some i_0 , or $\lambda_{j_0} \neq 0$ for some j_0 . Without loss of generality, we may assume that there exists some i_0 such that $\beta_{i_0} \neq 0$. The Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that there exists a prime p such that $p \nmid |\beta_{i_0}|$ and where

 $p \le C_2 \log(C_2 |\beta_{i_0}|) \le C_2 \log(C_1 C_2 n^2).$

Consider the homomorphism $\rho: \mathcal{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ given by

$$\kappa^{\alpha}\left(\prod_{i=1}^{m}\mu_{i}^{\beta_{i}}\right)\left(\prod_{j=1}^{m}\nu_{j}^{\lambda_{j}}\right) \longrightarrow (\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{m},\lambda_{1},\ldots,\lambda_{m}) \longrightarrow \beta_{i_{0}} \pmod{p}.$$

Here, the first arrow is the abelianization homomorphism and the second arrow is the natural projection from \mathbb{Z}^{2m} to $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$. By construction, $\rho(\gamma) \neq 1$ and

$$|\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}| \le C_1 C_2 \log(C_1 C_2 n^2).$$

Thus, for some $C_3 > 0$, we have that

$$\mathsf{D}_{\mathsf{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma) \le C_3 \log(C_3 n).$$

Now suppose that $\pi_{ab}(\gamma) = 1$. That implies $\beta_i, \lambda_j = 0$ for all i, j. As before, the Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that there exists a prime p such that $p \nmid |\alpha|$ and $p \leq C_4 \log(C_4 n)$ for some $C_4 \in \mathbb{N}$. We have that $\pi_{(H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^p}(\gamma) = \pi_{(H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^p}(\kappa^{\alpha}) \neq 1$. Corollary 4.2 implies that

$$|\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^p| = p^{2m+1}.$$

Hence,

$$|\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^p| \le (C_4)^{2m+1} (\log(C_4 n))^{2m+1}$$

Thus, $D_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma) \leq C_4(\log(C_4 n))^{2m+1}$, and therefore,

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{2m+1}.$$

We now proceed with the lower bound calculation of $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$.

Proposition 5.2. $(\log(n))^{2m+1} \leq F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n).$

Proof. To demonstrate that $(\log(n))^{2m+1} \leq F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$, we construct a sequence of elements $\{\gamma_i\}$ such that there exists a constant $C_1 > 0$ where

$$C_1(\log(C_1 \| \gamma_i \|_S))^{2m+1} \le D_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma_i)$$

independent of i. The proof of Proposition 5.1 implies that

 $D_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma) \le C_2 \log(C_2 \|\gamma\|_S)$

for some $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, when $\gamma \notin Z(\mathcal{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))$. That implies that we will be looking for central elements.

Let $\{p_i\}$ be an enumeration of the primes, and let

$$\alpha_i = (\operatorname{lcm}\{1, 2, \dots, p_i - 1\})^{2m+2}$$

We claim for all *i* that $D_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\kappa^{\alpha_i}) \approx \log(\|\kappa^{\alpha_i}\|_S)^{2m+1}$. It is clear that $\pi_{(H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}}(\kappa)^{\alpha_i} \neq 1$ in $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}$. [16, 3.B2] implies that $\|\kappa^{\alpha_i}\|_S \approx \sqrt{|\alpha_i|}$, and the Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that $\log(|\alpha_i|) \approx p_i$. Subsequently, $\log(\|\kappa^{\alpha_i}\|_S) \approx p_i$, and thus,

$$(\log(\|\kappa^{\alpha_i}\|_S))^{2m+1} \approx p_i^{2m+1}.$$

Corollary 4.2 implies that

$$|\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}| = p_i^{2m+1};$$

thus, we will establish that

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\kappa^{\alpha_i}) \approx (\log(\|\kappa^{\alpha_i}\|_S))^{2m+1}$$

by demonstrating that if given a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \mathcal{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) \to Q$ satisfying $|Q| < p_i^{2m+1}$, then $\varphi(\kappa)^{\alpha_i} = 1$.

[17, Thm 2.7] implies that we may assume that $|Q| = q^{\beta}$ where q is a prime. Since $\varphi(\kappa^{\alpha_i}) = 1$ when $\varphi(\kappa) = 1$, we may assume that $\varphi(\kappa) \neq 1$. Give that $[\mu_t, \nu_t] = \kappa$ for all t, it follows that $\varphi(\nu_s), \varphi(\mu_j) \neq 1$ for all s, j and that $|Q| \ge q^{2m+1}$ (see the second paragraph after [20, Defn 8.2]).

Suppose Q is a p_i -group. If $\varphi(\kappa^{\alpha_i}) \neq 1$, then Proposition 4.12 implies that $|Q| = p_i^{2m+1}$ and that there are no proper quotients of Q where the image of $\varphi(\kappa^{\alpha_i})$ does not vanish. In particular, there are no proper quotients of $\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}$ where $\pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}}(\kappa^{\alpha_i})$ does not vanish. Thus, we may assume that $q \neq p_i$.

If $q > p_i$, then we have that $\operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\nu_i)), \operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\mu_j)) \ge p_i$ for all i, j. That implies $|\Delta_i : \Delta_{i-1}| > p_i$. Thus, the second paragraph after [20, Defn

8.2] implies that $|Q| > p_i^{2m+1}$; hence, we may disregard this possibility. We now assume that Q is a q-group where $q < p_i$. If $q^\beta < p$, then $|Q| | \alpha_i$. Since the order of an element of a finite group divides the order of the group, we have that $\lambda | \alpha_i$ where $\lambda = \operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\kappa))$. Thus, $\varphi(\kappa^{\alpha_i}) = 1$.

Hence, we may assume that Q is a q-group where $q < p_i$ and $p_i < q^{\beta} < p_i^{2m+1}$. There exists v such that

$$q^{(2m+1)v} < p_i^{2m+1} < q^{(2m+1)(v+1)}.$$

Thus, we may write

$$\beta = vt + r$$

where $t \leq 2m + 1$ and $0 \leq r < t$. By construction, $q^{(2m+1)t+r} \leq \alpha_i$, and since $q < p_i$, it follows that

$$q^{(2m+1)t+r} \mid \alpha_i$$

Subsequently, $\lambda \mid \alpha_i$ and $\varphi(\kappa^{\alpha_i}) = 1$ as desired.

Corollary 5.3. Let $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ be the integral Heisenberg group. Then

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{2m+1}.$$

Part III. Residual finiteness

6. Proof of Theorem 1.1

Our goal for Theorem 1.1 is to demonstrate that $F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{RF}(1)}$. Proposition 4.4 implies that we may assume that Γ is torsion-free. We proceed with the proofs of the upper and lower bounds for $F_{\Gamma}(n)$ separately since they require different strategies. We start with the upper bound as its proof is simpler.

For the upper bound, our task is to prove for a nonidentity element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$ and where

$$|Q| \le C_0 \left(\log(C_0 \|\gamma\|_S) \right)^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$$

for some $C_0 \in \mathbb{N}$. When $\gamma \notin \mathbb{Z}(\Gamma)/\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, we pass to the quotient given by $\Gamma/\mathbb{Z}(\Gamma)/\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$ and then appeal to induction on step length. Otherwise, for $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}(\Gamma)/\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, we find an admissible quotient of Γ with respect to some primitive central element in which γ has a nontrivial image.

Proposition 6.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. Then

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}.$$

Proof. Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Suppose $\gamma \in \Gamma$ such that $\|\gamma\|_S \leq n$. Using the Mal'tsev coordinates of γ , we may write

$$\gamma = \prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_i^{\alpha_i}.$$

Lemma 2.8 implies that $|\alpha_i| \leq C_1 n^{c(\Gamma)}$ for some $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ for all *i*. By induction, we will construct a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi: \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$ and where

$$|Q| \le C_2 (\|\gamma\|_S)^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$$

for some constant $C_2 > 0$.

When Γ is a torsion-free, finitely generated abelian group, [4, Cor 2.3] implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \neq 1$ and where

$$|Q| \le C_3 \, \log(C_3 \, n)$$

for some constant $C_3 > 0$. Thus, we may assume that Γ is nonabelian.

Letting $M = {}^{Z(\Gamma)} \sqrt{\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}}$, suppose that $\pi_M(\gamma) \neq 1$. Passing to the group Γ/M , the inductive hypothesis implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism $\varphi : \Gamma/M \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\pi_M(\gamma)) \neq 1$ and where

$$D_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \leq C_4 (\log(C_4 n))^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma/M)}$$

for some $C_4 \in \mathbb{N}$. Proposition 3.10 implies that $\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma/M) \leq \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)$, and thus,

$$D_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \le C_4 \left(\log(C_4 n) \right)^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$$

Otherwise, we may assume that $\gamma \in M$. Thus, we may write

$$\gamma = \prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_{c(\Gamma)})} \xi_i^{\alpha_i}$$

and since $\gamma \neq 1$, there exists a $1 \leq j \leq h(\Gamma_c)$ such that $\alpha_j \neq 0$. The Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that there exists a prime p such that $p \nmid |\alpha_j|$ and $p \leq C_5 \log(C_5 |\alpha_j|)$ for some $C_5 \in \mathbb{N}$. If Γ/Λ_j is an admissible quotient with respect to ξ_j , then $\pi_{\Lambda_j \cdot \Gamma^p}(\gamma) \neq 1$. Corollary 4.2 implies that

$$|\Gamma/\Lambda_j \cdot \Gamma^p| \le C_5^{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_j)} \cdot (\log(C_5 |\alpha_j|))^{h(\Gamma/\Lambda_j)}$$

Proposition 3.8 implies that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_j) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$. Thus, we have that

$$D_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \leq C_6 \left(\log(C_6 n)\right)^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$$

for some $C_6 \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence,

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$$
.

In order to demonstrate that $(\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} \leq \mathrm{F}_{\Gamma}(n)$, we require an infinite sequence of elements $\{\gamma_i\} \subseteq \Gamma$ such that

$$C \left(\log(C \| \gamma_j \|_S) \right)^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} \leq \mathrm{D}_{\Gamma}(\gamma_j)$$

for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$ independent of j. That entails finding elements that are of high complexity with respect to residual finiteness, i.e., nonidentity elements that have relatively short word length in comparison to the order of the minimal finite group required to separate them from the identity.

Proposition 6.2. Let Γ be torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. Then

$$(\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} \preceq \mathrm{F}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Proof. Suppose that Γ is a torsion-free, finitely generated abelian group. Then [4, Cor 2.3] implies that $F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx \log(n)$ which gives our theorem in this case. Thus, we may assume that Γ is not abelian.

Let Γ/Λ be a maximal admissible quotient of Γ . There exists a $g \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$ such that Γ/Λ is an admissible quotient with respect to g. Moreover, there exists a $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$, $a \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$, and $b \in \Gamma$ such that $g^k = [a, b]$. If g is not primitive, then there exists a primitive element $x_{\Lambda} \in Z(\Gamma)$ such that $x_{\Lambda}^s = g$ for some $s \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, x_{Λ} is a primitive, central, nontrivial element such that $x_{\Lambda}^{sk} = [a, b]$.

Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be a cyclic series with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ such that $\xi_1 = x_{\Lambda}$. Let

$$\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} = (\operatorname{lcm}\{1, 2, \dots, p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} - 1\})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma) + 1}$$

where $\{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\}$ is an enumeration of primes greater than $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi})$. Letting $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} = \xi_1^{\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}}$, we claim that $\{\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\}_j$ is our desired sequence.

Before continuing, we make some remarks. The value $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{\Lambda}, \xi)$ depends on the maximal admissible quotient Γ/Λ of Γ and the cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . To be more specific, if Γ/Ω is another maximal admissible quotient of Γ with cyclic series $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{g_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Ω , then, in general, $\Gamma/\Lambda \ncong \Gamma/\Omega$, and subsequently, $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{\Lambda}, \bar{\xi}) \neq B(\Gamma/\Omega, \bar{H}, \bar{g})$. Even when we have a fixed maximal admissible quotient, i.e., $\Lambda \cong \Omega$, we still may run into ambiguity in the value $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \Lambda, \xi)$. To this end, let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and $\{H_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be distinct cyclic series which satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ with respective compatible generating subsets $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and $\{g_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Then $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{K}, \bar{\xi}) \neq B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{H}, \bar{g})$, in general. Finally, assuming that we have a fixed cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ with two distinct compatible generating subsets $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and $\{g_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, we then have that $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{H}, \bar{\xi}) \neq B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{H}, \bar{g})$, in general. Thus, the sequence of elements $\{\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Lambda,\xi}\}$ depends on the maximal

admissible quotient of Γ and the cyclic series and compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ . However, we will demonstrate that the given construction will work for any maximal admissible quotient we take and any cyclic series and compatible generating subset that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ .

We claim for all j that $D_{\Gamma}(\gamma_j) \approx (\log(p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$. It is evident that $\pi_{\Lambda\cdot\Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}}}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \neq 1$ in $\Gamma/\Lambda\cdot\Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}}$, and Proposition 4.2 implies that $|\Gamma/\Lambda\cdot\Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}}| = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$. To proceed, we show that if given a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi: \Gamma \to Q$ such that $|Q| < (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$, then $\varphi(\gamma) = 1$.

[17, Thm 2.7] implies that we may assume that $|Q| = q^{\beta}$ where q is a prime. If $\xi_1 \in \ker(\varphi)$, then $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = 1$. Thus, we may assume that $\varphi(\xi_1) \neq 1$. Proposition 4.5 implies that $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \neq 1$ if and only if $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)}(\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})) \neq 1$. Thus, we may restrict our attention to surjective homomorphisms that factor through Γ/Λ , i.e., homomorphisms $\varphi: \Gamma \to Q$ where $\varphi(\Lambda) \cong \{1\}$.

Suppose that $q = p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. If $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = 1$, then there is nothing to prove. So we may assume that $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \neq 1$. Since $|Q| \leq (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$, Proposition 4.12 implies that $|Q| = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$ and that if N is a proper quotient of Q with natural projection given by $\rho : Q \to N$, then $\rho(\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})) = 1$. We have two natural consequences. There are no proper quotients of $\Gamma/\Lambda \cdot \Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}}$ where $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$ has nontrivial image. Additionally, if $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite $p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ -group where $|Q| < (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$, then $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = 1$. Thus, we may assume that $q \neq p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$.

Suppose that $q > p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. Since $\tilde{\varphi} : \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite q-group where $q > B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \bar{\Delta}, \bar{\xi})$, Proposition 4.11 implies that $|Q| > (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta_i,\xi_i})^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$. Hence, we may assume that $q < p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$.

Now suppose that Q is a q-group where $|Q| < p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. By selection, it follows that |Q| divides $\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. Since the order of an element divides the order of the group, we have that $\operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\xi_1))$ divides $\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. In particular, we have that $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = 1$.

Now suppose that Q is a q-group where $q < p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ and $q^{\beta} > p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. Thus, there exists a $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$q^{\nu \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} < (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} < q^{(\nu+1) \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}.$$

Subsequently, we may write $\beta = \nu t + r$ where $t \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ and $0 \leq r < \nu$. By construction, $q^{\nu t+r} \leq \alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$, and since $q < p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$, it follows that $q^{\beta} = q^{\nu t+r} \mid \alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. Given that the order of any element in a finite group divides the order of the group, it follows that $\operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\xi_1))$ divides $\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$. Thus, $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = 1$, and therefore,

$$D_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}.$$

Since $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)}$, [16, 3.B2] implies that

$$(\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S) \approx (|\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}|)^{1/c(\Gamma)}$$

and the Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that

 $\log(|\alpha_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}|) \approx p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}.$

()

Hence,

Thus,
$$D_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|s))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} \approx (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$$
.
Thus, $D_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \approx (\log(\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|s))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$, and subsequently,
 $(\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)} \preceq F_{\Gamma}(n).$

We now prove the main result of this section.

Theorem 1.1. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. Then

 $F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$.

Additionally, one can compute $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ given a basis for $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))_{c(\Gamma)/T(\Gamma)}$.

Proof. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. Proposition 4.4 implies that

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(n).$$

Proposition 6.1 and Proposition 6.2 together imply that

 $F_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$.

Thus,

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$$
.

The last statement in the theorem follows from Proposition 3.8.

7. Cyclic series, lattices in nilpotent Lie groups, and Theorem 1.3

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. The main task of this section is to demonstrate that the value $h(\Gamma/\Lambda)$ is a well-defined invariant of the Mal'tsev completion of Γ . Thus, we need to establish some properties of cocompact lattices in connected, simply connected, Q-defined nilpotent Lie groups. We start with the following lemma that relates the Hirsch lengths of centers of cocompact lattices within the same connected, simply connected, Q-defined nilpotent Lie group.

Lemma 7.1. Let G be a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group with two cocompact lattices Γ_1 and Γ_2 . Then

$$\dim(Z(G)) = h(Z(\Gamma_1)) = h(Z(\Gamma_2)).$$

Proof. This proof is a straightforward application of [13, Lem 1.2.5].

We now introduce the notion of one parameter families of group elements of a Lie group.

Definition 7.2. Let G be a connected, simply connected Lie group. We call a map $f : \mathbb{R} \to G$ an one parameter family of group elements of G if f is an injective group homomorphism from the real line with addition.

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. We let G be the Mal'tsev completion with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and induced basis for \mathfrak{g} given by $\{\text{Log}(\xi_i)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Via the exponential map and [13, Lem 1.2.5], the maps given by

$$f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}(t) = \exp(t \operatorname{Log}(\xi_i))$$

are one parameter families of group elements. The discussion below [13, Thm 1.2.4 Pg 9] implies that we may uniquely write each $g \in G$ as

$$g = \prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}(t_i)$$

where $t_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for all *i*.

Definition 7.3. We say the one parameter families of group elements $f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}$ are *associated* to the group Γ , cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$.

We characterize when a discrete subgroup of an connected, simply connected, Q-defined nilpotent Lie group is a cocompact lattice based on how it intersects a collection of one parameter families of group elements.

Proposition 7.4. Let G be a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group, and suppose that Γ is a discrete subgroup of G. Suppose there exists a collection of one parameter families of group elements of G, written as $f_i : \mathbb{R} \to G$ for $1 \leq i \leq \dim(G)$, such that G is diffeomorphic to $\prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)} f_i(\mathbb{R})$. Then Γ is a cocompact lattice in G if and only $\Gamma \cap f_i(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ for all i.

Proof. Let $\rho: G \to G/\Gamma$ be the natural projection onto the space of cosets. Suppose that there exists an i_0 such that $f_{i_0}(\mathbb{R}) \cap \Gamma \not\cong \mathbb{Z}$. Since Γ is discrete in G, we have that $\Gamma \cap f_{i_0}(\mathbb{R})$ is a discrete subset of $f_{i_0}(\mathbb{R})$. Given that $\Gamma \cap f_{i_0}(\mathbb{R})$ is discrete and not infinite cyclic, we have that $\Gamma \cap f_{i_0}(\mathbb{R}) \cong \{1\}$.

We claim that each element of the sequence $\{f_{i_0}(t)\}_{t\in\mathbb{N}}$ projects to a unique element of G/Γ . To this end, suppose that there exists integers t_0 and t_1 such that $\rho(f_{i_0}(t_0)) = \rho(f_{i_0}(t_1))$. That implies that there exists an element $g \in \Gamma$ such that $f_{i_0}(t_0 - t_1) = g$. In particular, $g \in f_{i_0}(\mathbb{R}) \cap \Gamma$, and thus, g = 1. Hence, $f_{i_0}(t_0) = f_{i_0}(t_1)$ which gives our claim.

Thus, $\{\rho(f_{i_0}(t))\}_{t\in\mathbb{N}}$ is an infinite sequence in G/Γ with no convergent subsequence. Hence, Γ is not a cocompact lattice of G

Now suppose that $f_i(\mathbb{R}) \cap \Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}$ for all *i*. That implies for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, h(\Gamma)\}$ that there exists a $t_i > 0$ such that

$$\Gamma \cap f_i(\mathbb{R}) \cong \{ f_i(n \, t_i) \mid n \in \mathbb{Z} \}.$$
Let

$$E = \prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)} f_i([0, t_i]).$$

We claim that E is compact and that $\rho(E) \cong G/\Gamma$.

Let $f : \mathbb{R}^{\dim(G)} \to G$ be the continuous map given by

$$f((a_i,\ldots,a_{\dim(G)})) = \prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)} f_i(a_i).$$

Since $\prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)}[0, t_i]$ is a closed and bounded subset of $\mathbb{R}^{\dim(G)}$, the Heine-Borel theorem implies that $\prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)}[0, t_i]$ is compact. Since f is continuous, E is compact.

We now claim that each coset of Γ in G has a representative in E. Let $g = \prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)} f_i(\ell_i)$ where $\ell_i \in \mathbb{R}$ for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, \dim(G)\}$. For each i, there exists a $s_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $s_i t_i \leq \ell_i \leq (s_i + 1) t_i$. Let $k_i = \ell_i - s_i t_i$ and write $h \in E$ to be given by $h = \prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)} f(k_i)$. By construction, $\rho(h) = \rho(g)$, and subsequently, $\rho(g) \in \rho(E)$. Thus, $\rho(E) = \rho(G)$. Since G/Γ is the image of a compact set under a continuous map, G/Γ is compact. [33, Thm 2.1] implies that Γ is a cocompact lattice of G.

These next two propositions give some structural information needed about the Mal'tsev completion of a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group and some structural information of admissible quotients with respect to some primitive, central, nontrivial element.

Proposition 7.5. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. Let $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$ be a primitive element, and let Γ/Λ be an admissible quotient with respect to γ . Suppose that G is the Mal'tsev completion of Γ , and let H be the Mal'tsev completion of Λ . Then H is isomorphic to a closed, connected, normal subgroup of G.

Proof. Proposition 3.6 there exists a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ satisfying the following. There exists a subset $\{\xi_{i_s}\}_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)} \subseteq \{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ such that if $W_s = \langle \xi_{i_t} \rangle_{t=1}^s$, then $\{W_s\}_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ is a cyclic series for Λ with compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_s}\}_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ where $\xi_1 = \gamma$. Let $\{f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be the one parameter families of group elements of G associated to the torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ , cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$.

[13, Thm 1.2.3] implies that we may view H as a connected subgroup of G. We proceed by induction on $h(\Gamma)$ to demonstrate that H is a closed and normal subgroup of G. If $h(\Gamma) = 1$, then $\Gamma = \mathbb{Z}$. It follows that G is isomorphic to \mathbb{R} and that $H \cong \{1\}$. Now our claim is evident.

MARK PENGITORE

Now suppose that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. If $h(Z(\Gamma)) = 1$, then we may take $\Lambda = \{1\}$ which implies that $H \cong \{1\}$. Thus, our claims are evident. Now suppose that $h(Z(\Gamma)) > 1$. Let $\Omega = \langle \xi_i \rangle_{i=1}^{h(Z(\Gamma))}$, and let K be the Mal'tsev completion of Ω . [13, Lem 1.2.5] implies that $K \leq Z(G)$. Thus, K is a closed, connected, normal subgroup of G.

We will demonstrate H/K is Mal'tsev completion of $\pi_K(\Lambda)$. We may write $H = \prod_{s=1}^{h(\Lambda)} f_{i_s,\Gamma,\Lambda,\xi}(\mathbb{R})$. Since Λ is a cocompact lattice of H, Proposition 7.4 implies that $\Lambda \cap f_{i_s,\Gamma,\Lambda,\xi}(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ for all $1 \leq s \leq h(\Lambda)$. By Proposition 7.4 again, we have that $K \cap \Lambda$ is a cocompact lattice of K. [12, Prop 5.1.4] implies that $\pi_K(\Lambda)$ is a cocompact lattice in H/K.

Observe that $\pi_K(\Lambda) \cong \Lambda/\Omega$. We have that Λ/Ω satisfies Proposition 3.1 for $\pi_K(\xi_1)$. Thus, the inductive hypothesis implies that H/K is a closed, normal subgroup of G/K. Since H isomorphic to the pullback of a closed, normal subgroup of G/K, H is a closed, normal subgroup of G.

Suppose that G is the Mal'tsev completion of Γ , and let Γ/Λ be an admissible quotient with respect to a primitive, central, nontrivial element of Γ . If H is a Mal'tsev completion of Λ , then H intersects any cocompact lattice as a cocompact lattice.

Proposition 7.6. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. Let $\gamma \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$ be a primitive element, and let Γ/Λ be an admissible quotient with respect to γ , G be the Mal'tsev completion of Γ , and H be the Mal'tsev completion of Λ . If $\Omega \leq G$ is another cocompact lattice of G, then $\Omega \cap H$ is a cocompact lattice of H.

Proof. Proposition 3.6 implies that there exists a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ satisfying the following. There exists a subset $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ such that the groups $\{W_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$ where $W_i \cong \langle \xi_{i_j} \rangle_{j=1}^{i}$ form a cyclic series for Λ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_{i_j}\}_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)}$. Let $\{f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ be the associated one parameter families of group elements of the Mal'tsev completion G of Γ . It follows that G is diffeomorphic to $\prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}(\mathbb{R})$. By construction, $H \cong \prod_{j=1}^{h(\Lambda)} f_{i_j,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}(\mathbb{R})$. Proposition 7.4 implies that $\Omega \cap f_{i,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ for all i. In particular, $\Omega \cap f_{i_j,\Gamma,\Delta,\xi}(\mathbb{R}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ for all j. Proposition 7.4 implies that $\Omega \cap H$ is a cocompact lattice in H as desired. \Box

The following lemma demonstrates that you can select a cyclic series and a compatible generating subset for a cocompact lattice in a connected, simply connected, Q-defined nilpotent Lie group by intersecting the lattice with a collection of one parameter families of group elements.

Lemma 7.7. Let G be a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group with a cocompact lattice Γ . Let f_i be a collection of one parameter families of elements of G such that G is diffeomorphic to $\prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)} f_i(\mathbb{R})$. Let

 $\langle \xi_i \rangle \cong f_i(\mathbb{R}) \cap \Gamma$. Then the groups given by $\Delta_s = \langle \xi_t \rangle_{t=1}^s$ form a cyclic series for Γ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$.

Proof. We proceed by induction on the $\dim(G)$. Since the statement is clear for the base case, we may assume that $\dim(G) > 1$. If we let

$$H \cong \prod_{i=1}^{\dim(G)-1} f_i(\mathbb{R}),$$

then Proposition 7.4 implies that $\Gamma \cap H$ is a cocompact lattice in H. The inductive hypothesis implies that the elements ξ_i given by

$$\langle \xi_i \rangle \cong f_i(\mathbb{R}) \cap \Gamma$$

satisfy the following. The groups given by $\Delta_s = \langle \xi_i \rangle_{i=1}^s, 1 \leq s \leq \dim(G) - 1$, form a cyclic series for $\Gamma \cap H$ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{\dim(G)-1}$. Since Γ is a cocompact lattice in G, Proposition 7.4 implies that

$$f_{\dim(G)}(\mathbb{R}) \cap \Gamma \cong \mathbb{Z}$$

Letting $\Delta_{\dim(G)} = \langle \Delta_{\dim(G)-1}, \xi_{\dim(G)} \rangle$, we have that the groups given by $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{\dim(G)}$ form a cyclic series for Γ with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{\dim(G)}$.

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group. We now demonstrate that the value $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ is a well-defined invariant of the Mal'tsev completion of Γ .

Proposition 7.8. Let G be a connected, simply connected, \mathbb{Q} -defined nilpotent Lie group, and suppose that Γ_1 and Γ_2 are two cocompact lattices of G. Then $\psi_{\text{RF}}(\Gamma_1) = \psi_{\text{RF}}(\Gamma_2)$.

Proof. If $h(Z(\Gamma_1)) = 1$, then Proposition 7.1 implies that $h(Z(\Gamma_2)) = 1$. It then follows from the definition of $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1)$ and $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_2)$ that

$$\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma_1) = h(\Gamma) = \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma_2).$$

Therefore, we may assume that $h(Z(\Gamma_1)), h(Z(\Gamma_2)) \geq 2$. In this case, we demonstrate the equality by showing that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_2)$ and $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_2) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1)$.

Let G be the Mal'tsev completion of Γ_1 . Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_1)}$ be a cyclic series for Γ_1 with a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_1)}$, and let $\{f_{i,\Gamma_1,\Delta,\xi}\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_1)}$ be the associated one parameter families of group elements. We have that G is diffeomorphic to $\prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_1)} f_{i,\Gamma_1,\Delta,\xi}(\mathbb{R})$. Let

$$\{\eta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_2)} \subseteq \Gamma_2$$
 such that $\langle \eta_i \rangle \cong \Gamma_2 \cap f_i(\mathbb{R}).$

If we let $W_i \cong \langle \eta_j \rangle_{j=1}^i$, then Proposition 7.7 implies that $\{W_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_2)}$ is a cyclic series for Γ_2 with a compatible generating subset $\{\eta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma_2)}$. Let ξ_i be a central element of the compatible generating subset of Γ_1 , and let Γ_1/Λ be

MARK PENGITORE

an admissible quotient with respect to ξ_i . Let H be the Mal'tsev completion of Λ . Since $\pi_{\Lambda}(\xi_i) \cong Z(\Gamma_1/H)$, it is evident that $\langle \pi_H(\eta_i) \rangle \cong Z(\Gamma_2/H)$. In particular, $\pi_H(\eta_i) \neq 1$. Proposition 7.6 implies that $H \cap \Omega$ is a compact lattice of H and Proposition 7.5 implies that H is a closed, connected, normal subgroup of G. Thus, [12, Prop 5.1.4] implies that $\pi_H(\Omega)$ is a compact lattice in G/H. Proposition 7.1 implies that $h(\Gamma_2/\Lambda) = h(\pi_H(\Gamma_2))$; thus, it follows that $\pi_H(\Gamma_2)$ satisfies the conditions of Proposition 3.1 for η_i . If we let Γ_2/Ω be an admissible quotient with respect to η_i , it follows that

$$h(\Gamma/\Omega) \le \pi_H(\Gamma_2) \le h(\Gamma/\Lambda),$$

By Proposition 3.8, $h(\Gamma_2/\Omega) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1)$. [13, Lem 1.2.5] implies that $\eta_i \in Z(\Gamma_2)$, and thus, the above inequality holds for each central element of the compatible generating subset of Γ_2 in $Z(\Gamma_2)$. Therefore, Proposition 3.8 implies that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_2) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1)$. By interchanging Γ_1 and Γ_2 , we have that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1) \leq \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_2)$.

We now come to the main result of this section.

Theorem 1.3. Suppose that Γ_1 and Γ_2 are two infinite, finitely generated nilpotent groups such that $\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1)$ and $\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2)$ have isomorphic Mal'tsev completions. Then $F_{\Gamma_1}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma_2}(n)$.

Proof. Suppose that Γ_1 and Γ_2 are two infinite, finitely generated nilpotent groups such that $\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1)$ and $\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2)$ have isomorphic Mal'tsev completions. Proposition 4.4 implies that

$$F_{\Gamma_1}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1)}(n)$$
 and $F_{\Gamma_2}(n) \approx F_{\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2)}(n)$.

We also have that Theorem 1.1 implies

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1)}(n) &\approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1))} \,, \\ \mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2)}(n) &\approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2))} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Proposition 7.8 implies that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_1/T(\Gamma_1)) = \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma_2/T(\Gamma_2))$. Thus,

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_1}(n) \approx \mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_2}(n).$$

8. Some examples and the proof of Theorem 1.5

8.1. Free nilpotent groups and Theorem 1.5(i).

Definition 8.1. Let F(X) be the free group of rank m generated by X. We define $N(X, c, m) = F(X)/(F(X))_{c+1}$ as the free nilpotent group of step size c and rank m on the set X.

Following [22, Sec 2.7], we construct a cyclic series for N(X, c, m) and a compatible generating subset using iterated commutators in the set X.

Definition 8.2. We formally call elements of X basic commutators of weight 1 of N(X, c, m), and we choose an arbitrary linear order for weight 1 basic commutators. If γ_1 and γ_2 are basic commutators of weight i_1 and i_2 , respectively, then $[\gamma_1, \gamma_2]$ is a basic commutator of weight i_1+i_2 of N(X, c, m) if $\gamma_1 > \gamma_2$. If, in addition, we can write $\gamma_1 = [\gamma_{1,1}, \gamma_{1,2}]$ where $\gamma_{1,1}$ and $\gamma_{1,2}$ are basic commutators, then we also assume that $\gamma_{1,2} \leq \gamma_2$.

Basic commutators of higher weight are greater with respect to the linear order than basic commutators of lower weight. Moreover, we choose an arbitrary linear order for commutators of the same weight.

For $x_{i_0} \in X$, we say that a 1-fold commutator γ contains x_{i_0} if $\gamma = x_{i_0}$. Inductively, we say that a *j*-fold commutator $[\gamma_1, \gamma_2]$ contains x_{i_0} if either γ_1 contains x_{i_0} or γ_2 contains x_{i_0} .

Note that any basic commutator of weight greater or equal to 2 must contain two distinct commutators of weight 1 but not necessarily more than 2. Additionally, if γ is a basic commutator of weight k, then γ can contain at most k distinct basic commutators of weight 1.

It is well known that the number of basic commutators of N(X, c, m) is equal to the Hirsch length of N(X, c, m). Letting μ be the Möbius function, we may write

$$h(\mathbf{N}(X,c,m)) = \sum_{r=1}^{c} \left(\frac{1}{r} \sum_{d|r} \mu(d) m^{\frac{r}{d}}\right).$$

We label the basic commutators as $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X,c,m))}$ with respect to the given linear order.

Definition 8.3. One can see that the subgroup series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X,c,m))}$ where $\Delta_i = \langle \xi_t \rangle_{t=1}^i$ is a cyclic series for N(X, c, m), and [22, Cor 2.7.3] implies that $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X,c,m))}$ is a compatible generating subset. We call $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X,c,m))}$ the cyclic series of basic commutators for N(X, c, m) and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X,c,m))}$ the compatible generating subset of basic commutators for N(X, c, m).

Proposition 8.4. Let N(X, c, m) be the free nilpotent group of step size cand rank m on the set $X = \{x_i\}_{i=1}^m$. Let γ be a basic commutator of weight c in the set X that contains only elements of $Y \subsetneq X$ where $Y \neq \emptyset$. There exists a normal subgroup Ω such that $N(X, c, m)/\Omega$ is torsion-free where $\langle \pi_{\Omega}(\gamma) \rangle \cong Z(N(X, c, m)/\Omega)$. Additionally, if η is a j-fold commutator that contains elements of $X \setminus Y$, then $\pi_{\Omega}(\eta) = 1$.

Proof. Let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\mathcal{N}(X,c,m))}$ be the cyclic series of basic commutators and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\mathcal{N}(X,c,m))}$ be the compatible generating subset of basic commutators. By assumption, there exists an $i_0 \in \{1, \ldots, h(Z(\mathcal{N}(X,c,m)))\}$ such that $\xi_{i_0} = \gamma$.

We will demonstrate that there exists a normal descending series $\{K_t\}_{t=1}^c$ such that $N(X, c, m)/K_t$ is torsion-free for each $t, \pi_{K_t}(\xi_1) \neq 1$ for each t, and if η is a *i*-fold commutator that contains only elements of $X \setminus Y$ where $i \geq t$, then $\pi_{K_t}(\eta) = 1$. We will also have that K_t is generated by basic commutators of weight greater than or equal to t, and finally, we will have that $\langle \pi_{K_1}(\xi_{i_0}) \rangle \cong Z(N(X, c, m)/K_1)$. We proceed by induction on t.

Consider the subgroup given by $K_c = \langle \xi_i \rangle_{i=1, i \neq i_0}^{h(Z(N(X,c,m)))}$. Observe that if η is a *c*-fold commutator such that η contains only elements of $X \setminus Y$, then it follows by selection that $\pi_{K_c}(\eta) = 1$. Thus, we have the base case.

Thus, we may assume that the subgroup K_t has been constructed for t < c, and let η be a (t-1)-fold commutator bracket that contains elements of $X \setminus Y$. It then follows that $[\eta, x_i]$ contains elements of $X \setminus Y$. Thus, $\pi_{K_t}([\eta, x_i]) = 1$ by assumption. Since that is true for all $1 \le i \le m$, we have that $\pi_{K_t}(\eta) \in Z(N(X, c, m)/K_t)$. Let W be the set of basic commutator brackets ξ_i such that $\pi_{K_t}(\xi_i)$ is central and where $\pi_{K_t}(\xi_i) \neq \pi_{K_t}(\xi_{i_0})$. By construction, $\pi_{K_t}(\xi_1) \notin \langle \pi_{K_t}(W) \rangle$ and if η is a ℓ -fold commutator bracket that contains elements of $X \setminus Y$ where $\ell \ge t - 1$, then $\pi_{K_t}(\eta) \in \langle \pi_{K_t}(W) \rangle$. We set $K_{t-1} \cong \langle K_t, W \rangle$, and suppose that η is a ℓ -fold commutator that contains elements of X/Y and where $\ell \ge t - 1$. By construction, we have that $\pi_{K_{t-1}}(\eta) = 1$. Since $K_{t-1} \cong \pi_{K_t}^{-1}(\langle \pi_{K_t}(W) \rangle)$, we have that K_{t-1} is a normal subgroup of N(X, c, m) and $K_t \le K_{t-1}$. Finally, it is evident that $N(X, c, m)/K_t$ is torsion-free. Hence, induction gives the construction of K_t for all i.

We now demonstrate that $Z(N(X, c, m)/K_1) \cong \langle \pi_{K_1}(\xi_1) \rangle$ by first showing that $\xi_1 \notin K_i$ for all *i*. We proceed by induction, and note that the base case follows from the definition of K_c . Now assume that $\xi_1 \notin K_t$ for the inductive hypothesis. By definition, $K_{t-1} = \langle K_t, W \rangle$ where *W* is the set of basic commutator brackets ξ_i such that $\pi_{K_t}(\xi_i)$ is central in $N(X, c, m)/K_t$ and where $\pi_{K_t}(\xi_i) \neq \pi_{K_t}(\xi_{i_0})$. By the construction of the upper central series, we have that the subset $\{\pi_{K_t}(\xi_t), \pi_{K_t}(W)\}$ is a free basis of $Z(N(X, c, m)/K_t)$. Suppose for a contradiction that $\xi_{i_0} \in K_{t-1}$. Given that $K_t \leq K_{t-1}$, we have that $\xi_{i_0} \in W \mod K_t$ which contradicts the fact that $\{\pi_{K_t}(\xi_t), \pi_{K_t}(W)\}$ is a free basis of $Z(N(X, c, m)/K_t)$. Thus, induction implies that $\xi_{i_0} \notin K_1$. In particular, $\pi_{K_1}(\xi_{i_0}) \subseteq (Z(N(X, c, m)/K_1))^{\bullet}$. The construction of K_1 mirrors the techniques used in the proof of Proposition 3.1. Thus, $h(Z(N(X, c, m)/K_1)) = 1$, and therefore, $Z(N(X, c, m)/K_1) \cong \langle \pi_{K_1}(\xi_{i_0}) \rangle$. By taking $\Omega = K_1$, we have our proposition.

We now come to the main result of this subsection.

Theorem 1.5(i). For each $c \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a $m(c) \in \mathbb{N}$ satisfying the following. For each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ of step length c and $h(\Gamma) \geq \ell$ such that

$$F_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{m(c)}$$

Proof. Let $c \ge 1$, $\ell \ge 2$, and $X_{\ell} = \{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$. Let $N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)$ to be the free nilpotent group of step size c and rank ℓ on the set X_{ℓ} . Theorem 1.1 implies

that there exists a $\psi_{\rm RF}(N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{N}(X_{\ell},c,\ell)}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathbf{N}(X_{\ell},c,\ell))}.$$

Before we continue, we make an observation. One can see that we may take the groups given by $N(X_c, c, c) \times \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ to satisfy a weak version of our theorem. However, $N(X_c, c, c) \times \mathbb{Z}^{\ell}$ is not irreducible. Thus, we will find an irreducible, torsion-free quotient of $N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)$ which achieves the desired end.

We will demonstrate that

$$(\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathrm{N}(X_{\ell},c,\ell))} \preceq (\log(n))^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathrm{N}(X_{c},c,c))}$$

for each $\ell > c$, and since $N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)$ is a nilpotent group of step size c and Hirsch length greater than ℓ , we will have our desired result.

We let $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X_{\ell},c,\ell))}$ be the cyclic series of basic commutators and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(N(X_{\ell},c,\ell))}$ be the compatible generating subset of basic commutators for $N(X_{\ell},c,\ell)$. For each $\xi_i \in Z(N(X_{\ell},c,\ell))$, let $N(X_{\ell},c,\ell)/\Lambda_i$ be an admissible quotient with respect to ξ_i . Proposition 3.8 implies that there exists an $i_0 \in \{1,\ldots,h(Z(N(X_{\ell},c,\ell)))\}$ such that $h(\Gamma/\Lambda_{i_0}) = \psi_{\rm RF}(N(X_{\ell},c,\ell))$.

For each $\xi_i \in Z(\mathcal{N}(X_\ell, c, \ell))$, there exists a subset $Y_i \subseteq X$ such that ξ_i is a basic commutator of weight c that contains only elements of Y_i . Proposition 8.4 implies that there exists a subgroup Ω_i such that $\mathcal{N}(X_\ell, c, \ell)/\Omega_i$ satisfies Proposition 3.1 with respect to ξ_i . Moreover, elements of $X \setminus Y_i$ are contained in Ω_i .

There is a natural surjective homomorphism $\rho_i: N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell) \to N(Y_i, c, |Y_i|)$ given by sending elements of $X \setminus Y_i$ to the identity. Thus, we have an induced homomorphism $\varphi: N(Y_i, c, |Y_i|) \to N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)/\Omega_i$ such that $\pi_{\Omega_i} = \varphi \circ \rho_i$. In particular, $N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)/\Omega_i \cong N(Y_i, c, |Y_i|)/\rho_i(\Omega_i)$. Therefore, $N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)/\Omega_i$ satisfies the conditions of Proposition 3.1 for $\rho_i(\xi_i)$. Proposition 3.8 implies that

$$h(\mathcal{N}(X_{\ell}, c, \ell) / \Lambda_i) \leq \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathcal{N}(Y_i, c, |Y_i|)).$$

Since $N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell)$ has step size c, we have that $|Y_i| \leq c$ for any $\xi_i \in Z(N(X_{\ell}, c, \ell))$. Additionally, we have that $N(Y_i, c, |Y_i|) \cong N(X_j, c, j)$ when $|Y_i| = j$. In particular,

$$\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathrm{N}(Y_i, c, |Y_i|)) = \psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathrm{N}(X_j, c, j)).$$

By setting

$$m(c) = \max\{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\mathrm{N}(X_j, c, j)) \mid 1 \le j \le c\},\$$

Proposition 3.8 implies that $F_{N(X_{\ell},c,\ell)}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^{m(c)}$.

8.2. Central products and applications. The examples we contruct for Theorem 1.5(ii), (iii) and (iv) arise as iterated central products of torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent groups whose centers have Hirsch length 1. In the given context, Corollary 1.2 allows us to compute the precise

MARK PENGITORE

residually finiteness function in terms of the Hirsch length of the torsionfree, finitely generated nilpotent groups of whom we take the central product of.

Definition 8.5. Let Γ and Δ be finitely generated groups, and let

$$\theta: Z(\Gamma) \to Z(\Delta)$$

be an isomorphism. We define the central product of Γ and Δ with respect to θ as

$$\Gamma \circ_{\theta} \Delta = (\Gamma \times \Delta)/K$$
 where $K = \{(z, \theta(z)^{-1}) \mid z \in Z(\Gamma)\}.$

We define the central product of the groups $\{\Gamma_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$ with respect to the automorphisms $\theta_i : Z(G_i) \to Z(G_{i+1})$ for $1 \leq i \leq \ell - 1$ inductively. Assuming that $(\Gamma_i \circ_{\theta_i})_{i=1}^{\ell}$ has already been defined, we define $(\Gamma_i \circ_{\theta_i})_{i=1}^{\ell}$ as the central product of $(\Gamma_i \circ_{\theta_i})_{i=1}^{\ell-1}$ and Γ_{ℓ} with respect to the induced isomorphism $\bar{\theta}_{\ell-1} : Z((\Gamma_i \circ_{\theta_i})_{i=1}^{\ell-1}) \to Z(\Gamma_{\ell})$. When $\Gamma = \Gamma_i$ and $\theta = \theta_i$ for all i, we write the central product as $(\Gamma \circ_{\theta})_{i=1}^{\ell-1}$.

Suppose that $\Gamma \circ_{\theta} \Delta$ is a central product of two nilpotent groups. Since products and quotients of nilpotent groups are nilpotent, it follows that $\Gamma \circ_{\theta} \Delta$ is a nilpotent group. However, the isomorphism type of $\Gamma \circ_{\theta} \Delta$ is dependent on θ .

Proposition 8.6. Let $\{\Gamma_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$ be a collection of torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent groups where $h(Z(\Gamma_i)) = 1$ for all *i*. Let $Z(\Gamma_i) = \langle z_i \rangle$, and let $\theta_i : Z(\Gamma_i) \to Z(\Gamma_{i+1})$ be the isomorphism given by $\theta(z_i) = z_{i+1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq \ell - 1$. Then

$$h((\Gamma_i \circ_{\theta_i})_{i=1}^{\ell}) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} h(\Gamma_i) - \ell + 1 \quad and \quad h(Z(\Gamma_i \circ_{\theta_i})_{i=1}^{\ell})) = 1.$$

Proof. We may assume that $\ell = 2$. First note that if Γ is a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a normal subgroup $\Delta \leq \Gamma$ such that Γ/Δ is torsion-free, then $h(\Gamma) = h(\Delta) + h(\Gamma/\Delta)$. Observe that

$$\Gamma_1 \circ_{\theta} \Gamma_2 / Z(\Gamma_1 \circ_{\theta} \Gamma_2) \cong \Gamma_1 / Z(\Gamma_1) \times \Gamma_2 / Z(\Gamma_2).$$

It is evident that $h(Z(\Gamma_1 \circ_{\theta} \Gamma_2)) = 1$, and thus, we may write

$$h(\Gamma_1/Z(\Gamma_1)) + h(\Gamma_2/Z(\Gamma_2)) + 1 = h(\Gamma_1 \circ_\theta \Gamma_2).$$

Therefore,

$$h(\Gamma_1 \circ_{\theta} \Gamma_2) = h(\Gamma_1) - 1 + h(\Gamma_2) - 1 + 1 = h(\Gamma_1) + h(\Gamma_2) - 1.$$

Definition 8.7. For $\ell \geq 3$, we define Λ_{ℓ} to be the torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group generated by the set $S_{\ell} = \{x_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$ with relations consisting of commutator brackets of the form $[x_1, x_i] = x_{i+1}$ for $2 \leq i \leq \ell - 1$ and all other commutators being trivial.

 Λ_{ℓ} is an example of a *Filiform nilpotent group*. It has Hirsch length ℓ and has step length $\ell - 1$. Defining $\Delta_i = \langle x_s \rangle_{s=m-i+1}^{\ell}$, it follows that $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$ is a cyclic series for Λ_{ℓ} and $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{\ell}$ is a compatible generating subset where $\xi_i = x_{\ell-i+1}$. Additionally, $h(Z(\Lambda_{\ell})) = 1$.

Theorem 1.5(ii), (iii), and (iv).

- (ii) Suppose $\ell \neq 2$. Then there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ_{ℓ} such that $F_{\Gamma}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\ell}$.
- (iii) Suppose $2 \leq c_1 < c_2$ are natural numbers. For each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent groups Γ_{ℓ} and Δ_{ℓ} of step lengths c_1 and c_2 , respectively, such that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_{\ell}}(n) \approx \mathbf{F}_{\Delta_{\ell}}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\ell \, \operatorname{lcm}(c_1+1,c_2+1)}$$

(iv) For natural numbers c > 1 and $m \ge 1$, there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ of step length csuch that $(\log(n))^m \preceq F_{\Gamma}(n)$.

Proof. Assume that $\ell \geq 3$. By construction, Λ_{ℓ} is a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group of Hirsch length ℓ such that $h(Z(\Gamma_{\ell})) = 1$. Corollary 1.2 implies that

$$F_{\Lambda_{\ell}}(n) \approx (\log(n))^{\ell}$$

and since $F_{\mathbb{Z}}(n) \approx \log(n)$, we have Theorem 1.5(ii).

For $2 \leq c_1 < c_2$ and $\ell \geq 1$, there exist natural numbers j_ℓ and ι_ℓ satisfying

$$(j_{\ell} - 1) (c_1 + 1) = \ell \operatorname{lcm}(c_1 + 1, c_2 + 1)$$

and

$$(\iota_{\ell} - 1) (c_2 + 1) = \ell \operatorname{lcm}(c_1 + 1, c_2 + 1),$$

respectively. Let

$$\Gamma_{\ell} = (\Lambda_i \circ_{\theta_{\Gamma}})_{i=1}^{j_{\ell}}$$
 and $\Delta_{\ell} = (\Lambda_i \circ_{\theta_{\Delta}})_{i=1}^{\iota_{\ell}}$

where

$$\theta_{\Gamma}: Z(\Lambda_{c_1+1}) \to Z(\Lambda_{c_1+1}) \text{ and } \theta_{\Delta}: Z(\Lambda_{c_2+1}) \to Z(\Lambda_{c_2+1})$$

are the identity isomorphisms, respectively. Proposition 8.6 implies that $h(\Gamma_{\ell}) = h(\Delta_{\ell})$ and $h(Z(\Gamma_{\ell})) = h(Z(\Delta_{\ell})) = 1$, and thus, Corollary 1.2 implies that

$$\mathbf{F}_{\Gamma_{\ell}}(n) \approx \mathbf{F}_{\Delta_{\ell}}(n).$$

Lastly, let c > 1 and $m \ge 1$, and consider the group

$$\Gamma_{c\,m} = (\Lambda_{c+1} \circ_{\theta})_{i=1}^{c\,m}$$

with finite generating subset S_{cm} . Proposition 8.6 implies that

$$h(\Gamma_{cm}) = c m^2 + c m - 1,$$

and since $c m^2 + c m - 1 \ge m$, Corollary 1.2 implies that

$$(\log(n))^m \preceq \mathcal{F}_{\Gamma_{c\,m}}(n)$$

as desired.

Part IV. Conjugacy separability

9. A review of Blackburn and a proof of Theorem 1.6

We start with a review of Blackburn's proof of conjugacy separability for infinite, finitely generated nilpotent groups. This section provides motivation for estimates in the following sections and how one obtains an upper bound for $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$.

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ be elements such that $\gamma \nsim \eta$. In order to construct a surjective homomorphism to a finite group that separates the conjugacy classes of γ and η , we proceed by induction on $h(\Gamma)$. Since the base case is evident, we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. When $\pi_{\Delta_1}(\gamma) \nsim \pi_{\Delta_1}(\eta)$, induction implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \nsim \varphi(\eta)$. Otherwise, by passing to a conjugate element, we may assume that $\eta = \gamma \xi_1^t$ for some $t \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$. The following integer is of particular importance.

Definition 9.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$. If we let $\varphi : \pi_{\Delta_1}^{-1}(C_{\Gamma/\Delta_1}(\bar{\gamma})) \to \Delta_1$ be given by $\varphi(\eta) = [\gamma, \eta]$, we define $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \in \mathbb{N}$ so that $\langle \xi_1^{\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)} \rangle \cong \operatorname{Im}(\varphi)$.

Since we are trying to separate the conjugacy classes of γ and $\gamma \xi_1^t$, we choose a prime power p^{α} such that $p^{\alpha} \mid \tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ and $p^{\alpha} \nmid t$. We then find a $w \in \mathbb{N}$ such that if $\beta \geq w$, then for each $\gamma \in \Gamma^{p^{\beta}}$ there exists an element $\eta \in \Gamma$ satisfying $\eta^{p^{\beta-w}} = \gamma$ (see [3, Lem 2]).

Consider the following definition (see [3, Lem 3]).

Definition 9.2. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let $\gamma \in \Gamma$. We define $e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \in \mathbb{N}$ to be the smallest natural number such that if $\lambda \geq e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$, then

$$C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\lambda}}}(\bar{\gamma}) \subseteq \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\lambda}}}\left(C_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\lambda-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}}\right).$$

We set $\omega = \alpha + w + e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi}, \overline{\gamma})$. Blackburn then proves that

 $\pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma) \not\sim \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\eta)$

(see §12 and [3]). However, as a consequence of the choice of a cyclic series and a compatible generating subset, it becomes evident that the integer wis unnecessary. When Γ has torsion elements, Blackburn inducts on $|T(\Gamma)|$. Thus, it suffices to bound $p^{e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}$ and $\tau(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)$ in terms of $\|\gamma\|_S$ and $\|\eta\|_S$. Following Blackburn's method, we calculate the upper bound for $\operatorname{Conj}_{\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$. We then demonstrate that the given upper bound is sharp. Before starting, we make the following observations for $H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$. Using the cyclic series and a compatible generating subset given in Subsection 5.1, we have that

$$\tau(\gamma) = \tau(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}), \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = \gcd\{x_{\gamma,i}, y_{\gamma,j} | 1 \le i, j \le m\}.$$

Thus, Proposition 2.8 implies that $\tau(\gamma) \leq C_0 \|\gamma\|_S$ for some $C_0 \in \mathbb{N}$. Moreover, via Subsection 5.1 we may write the conjugacy class of γ as

(5)
$$\left\{ \left. \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \vec{x}_{\gamma} & \tau(\gamma) \ \beta + z_{\gamma} \\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_{m} & \vec{y}_{\gamma} \\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| \ \beta \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

The following proposition gives the upper bound for $\operatorname{Conj}_{\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$.

Proposition 9.3. $\operatorname{Conj}_{\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \preceq n^{2m+1}$.

Proof. Let $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ such that $\|\gamma\|_S, \|\eta\|_S \leq n$ and $\gamma \nsim \eta$. We need to construct a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \nsim \varphi(\eta)$ and where $|Q| \leq C n^{2m+1}$ for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$. We proceed based on whether γ and η have equal images in $(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))_{ab}$. To this end, assume that $\pi_{ab}(\gamma \eta^{-1}) \neq 1$. Corollary 1.4 (see also [4, Cor 2.3]) implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \mathbb{Z}^{2m} \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\pi_{ab}(\gamma \eta^{-1})) \neq 1$ and $|Q| \leq C_1 \log(C_1 n)$ for some $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$. Since the images of γ and η are nonequal, central elements in Q, it follows that $\varphi(\pi_{ab}(\gamma)) \nsim \varphi(\pi_{ab}(\eta))$, and thus,

$$CD_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma, \eta) \le C_1 \log(C_1 n).$$

Thus, we may assume that $\pi_{ab}(\gamma) = \pi_{ab}(\eta)$. In particular, we may write $\eta = \gamma \lambda^t$, and Proposition 2.8 implies that $|t| \leq C_0 n^2$. Let p^{ω} be a prime power that divides $\tau(\gamma)$ but does not divide t. We claim that

$$\pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma) \nsim \pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma \lambda^{t}),$$

and for a contradiction, suppose otherwise. That implies there exists an element $x \in H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})$ such that

$$\pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p^{\omega}}}([\gamma, x]) = \pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p^{\omega}}}(\lambda^{t}).$$

Equation (5) implies that

$$z_{\eta} \in \{\ell_{\gamma} \ \beta + z_{\gamma} \mid \beta \in \mathbb{Z}\} \pmod{p^{\omega}}.$$

Therefore, there exist $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $t = a \tau(\gamma) + b p^{\omega}$. Thus, $p^{\omega} \mid t$, a contradiction. Hence,

$$\pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma) \nsim \pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma \lambda^{\iota}).$$

When $\tau(\gamma) \neq 0$, we have that $p^{\omega} \leq \tau(\gamma) \leq C_0 n$. Hence,

$$CD_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma,\eta) \le C_0^{2m+1} n^{2m+1}$$

When $\tau(\gamma) = 0$, the Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that there exists a prime p such that $p \nmid t$ where $p \leq C_2 \log(C_2 |t|)$ for some $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$. Hence, $p \leq C_3 \log(C_3 n)$ for some $C_3 \in \mathbb{N}$, and thus,

$$CD_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma, \eta) \le C_3 (\log(C_3 n))^{2m+1}$$

Therefore, $\operatorname{Conj}_{\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \preceq n^{2m+1}$.

The following proposition gives the lower bound of $\operatorname{Conj}_{\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$.

Proposition 9.4. $n^{2m+1} \leq \operatorname{Conj}_{\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n).$

Proof. We will construct a sequence of nonconjugate pairs $\{\gamma_i, \eta_i\}$ such that

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma_i,\eta_i) = n_i^{2m+1}$$

where $\|\gamma_i\|, \|\eta_i\| \approx n_i$ for all *i*. Let $\{p_i\}$ be an enumeration of the primes. Writing $p_i \cdot e_1$ as the scalar product, we consider the following pair of elements:

$$\gamma_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & p_i \cdot \vec{e_1} & 1 \\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_m & \vec{0} \\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \eta_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & p_i \cdot \vec{e_1} & 2 \\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_m & \vec{0} \\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Equation (5) implies that we may write the conjugacy class of γ_i as

(6)
$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & p_i \cdot \vec{e}_1 & tp_i + 1 \\ \vec{0} & \mathbf{I}_m & \vec{0} \\ 0 & \vec{0} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| t \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}$$

Since $\pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}}(\gamma_i)$ and $\pi_{(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}}(\eta_i)$ are nonequal, central elements of $\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}$, it follows that $\gamma_i \approx \eta_i$ for all *i*. Moreover, we have that $\|\gamma_i\|_S, \|\eta_i\|_S \approx p_i$. Given that

$$|\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})/(\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}))^{p_i}| = p_i^{2m+1},$$

we claim that

$$CD_{\mathrm{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(\gamma_i,\eta_i) = p_i^{2m+1}.$$

In order to demonstrate our claim, we show if given a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \operatorname{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}) \to Q$ such that $|Q| < p_i^{2m+1}$, then $\varphi(\gamma_i) \sim \varphi(\eta_i)$. [17, Thm 2.7] implies that we may assume that $|Q| = q^{\mu}$. Since $\varphi(\gamma_i) = \varphi(\eta_i)$ when $\varphi(\lambda) = 1$, we may assume that $\varphi(\lambda) \neq 1$.

Suppose first that $q = p_i$. We demonstrate that if Q is a group where $\varphi(\gamma_i) \nsim \varphi(\eta_i)$, then there exists no proper quotient of Q such that the images of $\varphi(\gamma_i)$ and $\varphi(\eta_i)$ are nonconjugate. Since $B(H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z}), \Delta, \xi) = 1$, Proposition 4.11 implies that $|Q| = p_i^{2m+1}$. Since every admissible quotient with respect to any primitive, central, nontrivial element is isomorphic to the trivial subgroup, Proposition 4.12 implies that there exist no proper quotients of Q such that the image of $\varphi(\lambda^2)$ is nontrivial. Thus, if N is a proper quotient of Q with natural projection $\rho: Q \to N$, then

$$\ker(\rho) \cap Z(Q) \cong Z(Q)$$

since $Z(Q) \cong \mathbb{Z}/p_j\mathbb{Z}$ by Proposition 4.12. Thus, $\rho(\varphi(\gamma_i)) = \rho(\varphi(\eta_i))$; hence, $\rho(\varphi(\gamma_i)) \sim \rho(\varphi(\eta_i))$. In particular, if Q is a p_i -group where $|Q| < p_i^{2m+1}$, then $\varphi(\gamma_i) \sim \varphi(\eta_i)$. Thus, we may assume that $q \neq p_i$.

If $q > p_i$, then Proposition 4.11 implies that $p_i^{2m+1} > q^{\mu}$. Thus, we may assume that $q < p_i$. Since Proposition 4.11 implies that $\mathbb{Z}/q^{\nu}\mathbb{Z} \cong Z(Q)$, Equation (6) implies that if $1 \equiv p t$ (mod $q^{\nu} \mathbb{Z}$) for some $t \in \mathbb{Z}$, then $\varphi(\gamma_p) \sim \varphi(\eta_p)$. The smallest q^{ν} where this fails is $q^{\nu} = p_i$ since the image of p_i is a unit in $\mathbb{Z}/q^{\nu}\mathbb{Z}$ if and only if $gcd(p_i, q^{\nu}) = 1$. Therefore, $\varphi(\gamma_i) \sim \varphi(\eta_i)$ when $q^{\mu} < p_i$. Hence, $n^{2m+1} \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$.

Taking these propositions together, we obtain the main result of this section.

Theorem 1.6.
$$\operatorname{Conj}_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \approx n^{2m+1}$$

Proof. Proposition 9.3 implies that $F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \leq n^{2m+1}$, and Proposition 9.4 implies that $n^{2m+1} \leq F_{H_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n)$. Therefore,

$$\mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{H}_{2m+1}(\mathbb{Z})}(n) \approx n^{2m+1}.$$

The following corollary will be useful for the proof of Theorem 1.8.

Corollary 9.5. Let $H_3(\mathbb{Z})$ be the 3-dimensional Heisenberg group with the presentation given by $\langle \kappa, \mu, \nu | [\mu, \nu] = \kappa, \kappa \text{ central } \rangle$, and let p be a prime. Suppose $\varphi : H_3(\mathbb{Z}) \to Q$ is a surjective homomorphism to a finite group such that Q is a q-group where q is a prime distinct from p and where $\varphi(\kappa) \neq 1$. Then

$$\varphi(\mu^p \kappa) \sim \varphi(\mu^p \kappa^2).$$

Proof. We may write the conjugacy class of $\mu^p \kappa$ as

$$\{\mu^p \kappa^{t \, p+1} \mid t \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

Proposition 4.11 implies that $Z(Q) \cong \langle \varphi(\kappa) \rangle$. Hence, $Z(Q) \cong \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}$ where $m = \operatorname{Ord}_Q(\varphi(\kappa))$. Since Q is a q-group, it follows that $m = q^\beta$ for some $\beta \in \mathbb{Z}$. Given that $\gcd(p, q^\beta) = 1$, there exists integers r, s such that $rp + sq^\beta = 1$. We have that

$$\mu^p \kappa^{r p+1} \sim \mu^p \kappa.$$

We may write

$$\varphi(\mu^p \kappa^{r p+1}) = \varphi(\mu^p \kappa^{1-s q^{\beta}+1}) = \varphi(\mu^p \kappa^2).$$

Therefore, $\varphi(\mu^p \kappa) \sim \varphi(\mu^p \kappa^2)$ as desired.

10. Relating complexity in groups and Lie algebras

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let G be the Mal'tsev completion of Γ with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . The overall goal of this section is to provide a bound of $\|\operatorname{Log}(\gamma)\|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)}$ in terms of $\|\gamma\|_S$ where $\operatorname{Log}(S)$ gives a norm for the additive structure of \mathfrak{g} . **Proposition 10.1.** Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let *G* be the Mal'tsev completion of Γ with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Then there exists a constant $C \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\|\operatorname{Log}(\gamma)\|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)} \le C (\|\gamma\|_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^2}.$$

Proof. Using the Mal'tsev coordinates of γ , we may write

$$\gamma = \prod_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \xi_i^{\alpha_i}.$$

Lemma 2.8 implies that there exists $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $|\alpha_i| \leq C_1(||\gamma||_S)^{c(\Gamma)}$ for all *i*. A straightforward application of the Baker–Campbell–Hausdorff formula (2) implies that $\operatorname{Log}(\xi_i^{\alpha_i}) = \alpha_i \operatorname{Log}(\xi_i)$. Writing $A_i = \alpha_i \operatorname{Log}(\xi_i)$, it follows that

$$||A_i||_{\text{Log}(S)} \le C_1(||\gamma||_S)^{c(\Gamma)}.$$

Equation (2) implies that we may write

$$\|\operatorname{Log}(\gamma)\|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{c(\Gamma)} \|CB_i(A_1,\ldots,A_{h(\Gamma)})\|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)}$$

where $CB_i(A_1, \ldots, A_{h(\Gamma)})$ is a rational linear combination of *i*-fold Lie brackets of $\{A_{j_s}\}_{s=1}^t \subseteq \{A_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let $\{A_{j_s}\}_{s=1}^t \subset \{A_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ where $[A_{j_1}, \ldots, A_{j_t}] \neq 0$. Via induction on the length of the iterated Lie bracket, one can see that there exists a constant $C_t \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$[A_{j_1}, \ldots, A_{j_t}] \le C_t \prod_{s=1}^t ||A_{j_s}||_{\text{Log}(S)} \le C_t C_1 (||\gamma||_S)^{t c(\Gamma)}.$$

By maximizing over all possible *t*-fold Lie brackets of elements of $\{A_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, there exists a constant $D_i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$||CB_i(A_1,\ldots,A_{h(\Gamma)})||_{\mathrm{Log}(S)} \le D_i (||\gamma||_S)^{t c(\Gamma)}.$$

Hence,

$$\|\operatorname{Log}(\gamma)\|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)} \le C (\|\gamma\|_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^2}$$

for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$.

An immediate application of Proposition 10.1 is that the adjoint representation of Γ has matrix coefficients bounded by a polynomial in terms of word length.

Proposition 10.2. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating set $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let Gbe the Mal'tsev completion of Γ with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$, and let $(\mu_{i,j})$ be the matrix representative of $\operatorname{Ad}(\gamma)$ with respect to the basis $\{\operatorname{Log}(\xi)\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Then $|\mu_{i,j}| \leq C (||\gamma||_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^3}$ for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Proposition 10.1 implies that there exists a constant $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\| \operatorname{Log}(\gamma) \|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)} \le C_1 (\|\gamma\|_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^2}.$$

Via induction on the length of the Lie bracket and Equation (3), we have that $(2^{(\Gamma)})^3$

$$\|\operatorname{Ad}(\gamma)(v_i)\|_{\operatorname{Log}(S)} \le C_2(\|\gamma\|_S)^{(c(\Gamma))}$$

for some $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$.

11. Preliminary estimates for Theorem 1.7

Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let γ be a nontrivial element of Γ , and let p be some prime. In the following section, we demonstrate the construction of the integer $e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ and give an upper bound for $p^{e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)}$ in terms of $\|\gamma\|_S$ independent of the prime p. We first provide a bound for $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ in terms of $\|\gamma\|_S$.

Proposition 11.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. There exists $k, C \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$|\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)| \le C (||\gamma||_S)^k.$$

Proof. Let G be the Mal'tsev completion of Γ with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Consider the smooth map $\Phi: G \to G$ given by $\Phi(g) = [\gamma, g]$. Suppose $\eta \in \Gamma$ satisfies $\Phi(\eta) = \xi_1^{\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)}$. The commutative diagram (1.2) on [13, Pg 7] implies that we may write

$$(I - \operatorname{Ad}(\gamma^{-1}))(\operatorname{Log}(\eta)) = \operatorname{Log}(\xi_1^{\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)})$$

where $(d\Phi_{\gamma})_1 = I - \operatorname{Ad}(\gamma^{-1})$. Proposition 10.2 implies that $I - \operatorname{Ad}(\gamma^{-1})$ is a strictly upper triangular matrix whose coefficients are bounded by $C(||\gamma||_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^3}$ for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$. Since it is evident that

$$\operatorname{Log}(\xi_1^{\tau(1,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}) = \tau(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)\operatorname{Log}(\xi_1),$$

backwards substitution gives our result.

The first statement of the following proposition is originally found in [3, Lem 3]. We reproduce its proof so that we may provide estimates for the value $p^{e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}$ in terms of $\|\gamma\|_S$ where p is an arbitrary prime.

Proposition 11.2. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Let p be a prime number, and let $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Then there exists $e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that if $\alpha \geq e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$, then

$$C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}(\bar{\gamma}) \subseteq \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}\left(C_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}}\right)$$

Moreover, $p^{e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)} \leq C(\|\gamma\|_S)^k$ for some $C \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. We proceed by induction on Hirsch length, and given that the statement is clear for \mathbb{Z} by setting $e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = 0$ for all γ , we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$.

We construct $e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ based on the value of $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ (see Definition 9.1). By induction, we may assume that we have already constructed $e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi}, \overline{\gamma})$. When $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = 0$, we set

$$e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi}, \overline{\gamma}).$$

Suppose $\alpha \geq e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ and that $\bar{\eta} \in C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}(\bar{\gamma})$ for some $\eta \in \Gamma$. By selection, $\bar{\eta} \in C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}} \cdot \Delta_{1}}(\bar{\gamma})$. Thus, we may write

$$\eta \in \pi_{\Delta_1}^{-1}(C_{\Gamma/\Delta_1}(\bar{\gamma})) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}}.$$

Since $\pi_{\Delta_1}^{-1}(C_{\Gamma/\Delta_1}(\bar{\gamma})) = C_{\Gamma}(\gamma)$, it follows that

$$\bar{\eta} \in \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}} \left(C_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha - e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)}} \right),$$

Thus,

$$C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}(\bar{\gamma}) \subseteq \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}\left(C_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}}\right).$$

When $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \neq 0$, we let β be the largest power of p such that $p^{\beta} \mid \tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ and set

$$e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi}, \overline{\gamma}) + \beta.$$

Let $\alpha \geq e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$, and let $\eta \in \Gamma$ satisfy $\bar{\eta} \in C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}(\bar{\gamma})$. Thus, $\bar{\eta} \in C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}(\bar{\gamma})$, and subsequently, induction implies that

$$\bar{\eta} \in \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}} \cdot \Delta_1} \left(C_{\Gamma/\Delta_1}(\bar{\gamma}) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)+\beta}} \right).$$

Thus, we may write $\eta = \mu \epsilon^a \lambda$ where

$$\mu \in C_{\Gamma}(\gamma), \quad \lambda \in \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)+\beta}}, \text{ and } \varphi_{\gamma}(\epsilon) = \xi_1^{\tau(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}.$$

Hence, we have that

$$[\gamma,\eta] = [\gamma,\varepsilon^a] \in \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)+\beta}}.$$

Since $[\gamma, \epsilon^a] \in \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \bar{\Delta}, \bar{\xi}, \bar{\gamma})}}$ and $[\gamma, \epsilon^a] \in \Delta_1$, we have that

$$p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)+\beta} \mid a \tau(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma).$$

By definition of p^{β} , it follows that $p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)} \mid a$, and thus,

$$\bar{\eta} \in \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}} \left(C_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha - e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)}} \right).$$

Hence,

$$C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}(\bar{\gamma}) \subseteq \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}}\left(C_{\Gamma}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha-e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}}\right).$$

We proceed by induction on Hirsch length to demonstrate the upper bound, and since the base case is clear, we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$, and suppose that $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = 0$. By construction,

$$e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \Delta, \xi, \bar{\gamma}),$$

and thus, induction implies that there exist $C_1, k_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$p^{e(\Gamma/\Delta_1,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi},\bar{\gamma})} \le C_1 \left(\|\bar{\gamma}\|_{\bar{S}} \right)^{k_1}.$$

When $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \neq 0$, it follows that $e(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi}, \overline{\gamma}) + \beta$ where β is the largest power of p that divides $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$. Proposition 11.1 implies that there exist $k_2, C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $p^{\beta} \leq C_2 (\|\gamma\|_S)^{k_2}$. Consequently,

$$p^{e(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)} \le C_1 C_2 \left(\|\gamma\|_S \right)^{k_1+k_2}.$$

We finish with the following technical result.

Proposition 11.3. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$, and let $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$. Suppose that $\gamma \approx \eta$, but $\pi_{\Delta_1}(\gamma) \sim \pi_{\Delta_1}(\eta)$. Then there exists an element $g \in \Gamma$ such that $g^{-1} \eta g = \gamma \xi_1^t$ where

$$||t|| \leq C \max\{||\gamma||_S, ||\eta||_S\}^k$$

for some constant C > 0 and $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Let G be the Mal'tsev completion of Γ with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . Consider the smooth map $\Phi: G \to G$ given by $\Phi(x) = [\eta, x]$. By assumption, there exists an element $g \in \Gamma$ such that $g^{-1} \eta g \equiv \gamma \mod \Delta_1$, and thus, the commutative diagram (1.2) on [13, Pg 7] implies that we may write

$$(I - \operatorname{Ad}(\eta^{-1})) (\operatorname{Log}(g)) = \operatorname{Log}(\eta^{-1} \gamma \xi_1^t)$$

for some $t \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$. Since ξ_1^t is central, Equation 2 implies that we may write

$$\left(I - \operatorname{Ad}(\eta^{-1})\right)\left(\operatorname{Log}(g)\right) = \operatorname{Log}(\eta^{-1}\gamma) + \operatorname{Log}(\xi_1^t).$$

Proposition 10.2 implies that $I - \operatorname{Ad}(\eta^{-1})$ is a strictly upper triangular matrix whose coefficients are bounded by $C_1(\|\eta\|_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^3}$ for some $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$. Lemma 10.1 implies that we may write $\operatorname{Log}(\eta^{-1}\gamma) = \sum_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)} \alpha_i \operatorname{Log}(\xi_i)$ where $|\alpha_i| \leq C_2 (\|\eta^{-1}\gamma\|_S)^{(c(\Gamma))^2}$ for some $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus, we may write

$$(I - \operatorname{Ad}(\eta^{-1})) (\operatorname{Log}(g)) = (t + \alpha_1) \operatorname{Log}(\xi_1) + \sum_{i=2}^{h(\Gamma)} \alpha_i \operatorname{Log}(\xi_i).$$

Thus, backwards substitution gives our result.

12. Proof of Theorem 1.7

Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. In order to demonstrate that there exists a $k_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \leq n^{k_1}$, we need to show for any elements $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ where $\gamma \nsim \eta$ and $\|\gamma\|_S, \|\eta\|_S \leq n$ that there exists a prime power $p^{\omega} \leq C n^{k_2}$ such that $\pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma) \nsim \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\eta)$ for some $C, k_2 \in \mathbb{N}$. It then follows that $\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta) \leq C^{h(\Gamma)} n^{h(\Gamma) k_2}$. We first specialize to torsionfree, finitely generated nilpotent groups.

Proposition 12.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$. Then there exists a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq n^k.$$

Proof. Let $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ such that $\|\gamma\|_S, \|\eta\|_S \leq n$ and where $\gamma \nsim \eta$. We demonstrate that there exists a $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta) \leq C_0 n^{k_0}$ for some $C_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ by induction on $h(\Gamma)$, and since the base case is clear, we may assume that $h(\Gamma) > 1$. If $\pi_{\Delta_1}(\gamma) \nsim \pi_{\Delta_1}(\eta)$, then the inductive hypothesis implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group

$$\varphi: \Gamma/\Delta_1 \to Q$$

such that $\varphi(\gamma) \nsim \varphi(\eta)$ and where $|Q| \leq C_1 n^{k_1}$ for some $C_1, k_1 \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus,

 $\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) \leq C_1 n^{k_1}.$

Thus, Proposition 11.3 implies that there exists an element $\zeta \in \Gamma$ such that $\zeta \eta \zeta^{-1} = \gamma \xi_1^t$ where $|t| \leq C_2 n^{k_2}$ for some $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k_2 \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\gamma \nsim \gamma \xi_1^t$, there exists a prime power p^{α} such that $p^{\alpha} \mid \tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)$ but $p^{\alpha} \nmid t$. We set

$$\omega = \alpha + e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \bar{\Delta}, \bar{\xi}, \bar{\gamma}),$$

and suppose for a contradiction that there exists an element $x \in \Gamma$ such that $\pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(x^{-1} \gamma x) = \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma \xi_1)^t$. That implies $\bar{x} \in C_{\Gamma/\Gamma^{p^{\omega}} \cdot \Delta_1}(\bar{\gamma})$, and thus,

$$\bar{x} \in \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}} \cdot \Delta_1}(C_{\Gamma/\Delta_1}(\gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\alpha}})$$

by Proposition 11.2. Subsequently, $x = g \mu$ for some $g \in \pi_{\Delta_1}^{-1}(C_{\Gamma/\Delta_1}(\bar{\gamma}))$ and $\mu \in \Gamma^{p^{\alpha}}$. Hence, $\pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}([\gamma, g]) = \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\xi_1)^t$, and since $[\gamma, g] = \xi_1^{q \tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma)}$ for some $q \in \mathbb{Z}$, it follows that

$$\xi_1^{t-q\,\tau(\Gamma,\Delta,\xi,\gamma)}\in\Gamma^{p^{\alpha+e(\Gamma/\Delta_1,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi}\bar{\gamma})}}$$

That implies $p^{\alpha} \mid t$, which is a contradiction. Hence, $\pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma) \nsim \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\eta)$.

Proposition 11.2 implies that $p^{e(\Gamma/\Delta_1, \Delta, \xi, \bar{\gamma})} \leq C_3 n^{k_3}$ for some $C_3, k_3 \in \mathbb{N}$. When $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) = 0$, the Prime Number Theorem [38, 1.2] implies that we may take $|p| \leq C_4 \log(C_4 n)$ for some $C_4 \in \mathbb{N}$.

Hence,

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta) \le C_5 \left(\log(C_5 n) \right)^{h(\Gamma)}$$

for some $C_5 \in \mathbb{N}$. When $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \neq 0$, Proposition 11.1 implies that $\tau(\Gamma, \Delta, \xi, \gamma) \leq C_6 n^{k_4}$ for some $C_6, k_4 \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus, $p^{\omega} \leq C_3 C_6 n^{k_3+k_4}$. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) \le (C_3 C_6)^{h(\Gamma)} n^{h(\Gamma)(k_3+k_4)}.$$

Thus, by letting

$$k_5 = \max\{k_1, h(\Gamma)(k_3 + k_4)\},\$$

we have

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq n^{k_5}.$$

We now come to the main result of this section.

Theorem 1.7. Let Γ be a finitely generated nilpotent group. Then there exists a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq n^k.$$

Proof. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^m$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^m$. Let k_1 be the natural number from Proposition 12.1 and k_2 be the natural number from Proposition 11.2, both for $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$. Letting $k_3 = h(\Gamma) \cdot \max\{k_1, k_2\}$, we claim that $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq n^{k_3}$. Let $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ satisfy $\gamma \nsim \eta$ and $\|\gamma\|_S, \|\eta\|_S \leq n$. In order to show that $\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta) \leq C_0 n^{k_3}$ where $C_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, we construct a surjective homomorphism to a finite group that distinguishes the conjugacy classes of γ and η via induction on $|T(\Gamma)|$.

Proposition 12.1 implies that we may assume that there exists a subgroup $P \subseteq Z(\Gamma)$ of prime order p. If $\pi_P(\gamma) \nsim \pi_P(\eta)$, then induction implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma/P \to N$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \nsim \varphi(\eta)$ and where $|N| \leq C_1 n^{k_3}$ for some $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) \leq C_1 n^{k_3}.$$

Otherwise, we may assume that $\eta = \gamma \mu$ where $\langle \mu \rangle = P$.

Suppose there exists a subgroup $Q \subseteq Z(\Gamma)$ such that |Q| = q where q is a prime distinct from p. Suppose for a contradiction that there exists an element $x \in \Gamma$ such that $x^{-1} \gamma x = \gamma \mu \lambda$ where $Q = \langle \lambda \rangle$. Since $[\gamma, x] \in Z(\Gamma)$ and $\operatorname{Ord}_{\Gamma}(\lambda) = q$, basic commutator properties imply that $[\gamma, x^q] = \mu^q$. Given that p + q r = 1 for some $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}$, it follows that

$$[\gamma, x^{q\,r}] = \gamma \,\mu^{1-p\,s} = \gamma \,\mu$$

which is a contradiction. Hence, induction implies that there exists a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\theta : \Gamma/Q \to M$ such that $\theta(\gamma) \nsim \theta(\gamma \mu)$ and where $|M| \leq C_2 n^{k_3}$ for some $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) \leq C_2 n^{k_3}.$$

We now may assume that $T(\Gamma)$ is a p-group with exponent p^m . We set

$$\omega = m + e(\Gamma/T(\Gamma), \bar{\Delta}, \xi, \bar{\gamma}),$$

and suppose for a contradiction that there exists an element $x \in \Gamma$ such that

$$\pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(x^{-1} \gamma x) \sim \pi_{\Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\gamma \mu)$$

Thus, $\bar{x} \in C_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(\bar{\gamma})$; hence,

$$\bar{x} \in \pi_{T(\Gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{\omega}}}(C_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(\bar{\gamma}) \cdot \Gamma^{p^{m}})$$

by Proposition 11.2. Therefore, we may write $x = g \lambda$ where $\lambda \in \Gamma^{p^m}$ and $g \in \pi_{T(\Gamma)}^{-1}(C_{\Gamma/T(\Gamma)}(\bar{\gamma}))$. Subsequently, $[\gamma, g] \mu^{-1} \in \Gamma^{p^m}$. Moreover, since $[\gamma, g] \in T(\Gamma)$ and $T(\Gamma) \cap \Gamma^{p^m} = \{1\}$, it follows that $[\gamma, x] = \mu$ which is a contradiction. Proposition 11.2 implies that $p^{e(\Gamma/T(\Gamma),\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi},\bar{\gamma})} \leq C_3 n^{k_2}$ for some $C_3 \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) \leq C_3^{h(\Gamma)} |T(\Gamma)| n^{h(\Gamma) k_2},$$

and subsequently,

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq n^{k_3}.$$

13. Proofs of Theorem 1.8 and Theorem 1.9

Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group with a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^m$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^m$. Since the proofs of Theorem 1.8(i) and Theorem 1.8(ii) require different strategies, we approach them separately. We start with Theorem 1.8(i) since it only requires elementary methods.

We assume that Γ contains an infinite, finitely generated abelian group K of index m. We want to demonstrate that

$$\log(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^m$$
.

Since $F_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$, Corollary 1.4 (see also [4, Cor 2.3]) implies that $\log(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$. Thus, we need only to demonstrate that

$$\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^m.$$

For any two nonconjugate elements $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ where $\|\gamma\|_S, \|\eta\|_S \leq n$, we want to construct a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ such that $\varphi(\gamma) \nsim \varphi(\eta)$ and where $|Q| \leq C (\log(C n))^m$ for $C \in \mathbb{N}$.

Theorem 1.8(i). Suppose that Γ is an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group. If Γ contains a normal abelian subgroup of index m, then

$$\log(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^m$$

Proof. Let K be a normal abelian subgroup of Γ of index m. Let S_1 be a finite generating subset for K, and let $\{v_i\}_{i=1}^m$ be a set of coset representatives of K in Γ . We take $S = S_1 \cup \{v_i\}_{i=1}^m$ as the generating subset for Γ . If $\|\gamma\|_S \leq n$, we may write $\gamma = g_\gamma v_\gamma$ where $\|g_\gamma\|_{S_1} \leq C_1 n$ for some $C_1 \in \mathbb{N}$ and $v_\gamma \in \{v_i\}_{i=1}^m$. Conjugation in Γ induces a map $\varphi : \Gamma/K \to \operatorname{Aut}(K)$ given by $\varphi(\pi_K(v_i)) = \varphi_i$. Thus, we may write

$$[\gamma]_{\Gamma} = \left\{ \varphi_i(g_{\gamma}) \left(v_i^{-1} v_{\gamma} v_i \right) \right\}_{i=1}^m.$$

Finally, there exists a constant $C_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that if $\|\gamma\|_{S_1} \leq n$, then $\|\varphi_i(\gamma)\|_S \leq C_2 n$ for all *i*.

Suppose $\gamma, \eta \in \Gamma$ are two nonconjugate elements such that $\|\gamma\|_S, \|\eta\|_S \leq n$. If $\pi_K(\gamma) \nsim \pi_K(\eta)$, then by taking the homomorphism $\pi_K : \Gamma \to \Gamma/K$, it follows that $\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta) \leq m$. Otherwise, we may assume that $\eta = g_\eta v_\gamma$. By Corollary 1.4 (see also [4, Cor 2.3]), there exists a surjective homomorphism $f_i : \Gamma \to Q_i$ such that

$$f_i(g_\gamma^{-1}v_\gamma^{-1}\varphi_i(g_\eta)(v_i^{-1}v_\eta v_i)) \neq 1$$

and

$$|Q_i| \leq C_3 \log(2 C_2 C_3 n)$$

for some $C_3 \in \mathbb{N}$. By letting $H = \bigcap_{i=1}^m \ker(f_i)$, it follows that $\pi_H(\gamma) \nsim \pi_H(\eta)$ and

$$\Gamma/H| \le C_3^m (\log(2 C_2 C_3 n))^m$$

Hence, $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^m$ and thus, $\log(n) \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n) \preceq (\log(n))^m$. \Box

For Theorem 1.8(ii), suppose that Γ does not contain an abelian group of finite index. In order to demonstrate that

$$n^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)(c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))-1)} \preceq \mathrm{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n),$$

we desire a sequence of nonconjugate pairs $\{\gamma_i, \eta_i\}$ such that

$$CD_{\Gamma}(\gamma_i, \eta_i) = n_i^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)(c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))-1)}$$

where $\|\gamma_i\|_S$, $\|\eta_i\|_S \approx n_i$ for all *i*. In particular, we must find nonconjugate elements whose conjugacy classes are difficult to separate, i.e., nonconjugate elements that have relatively short word length in comparison to the order of the minimal finite group required to separate their conjugacy classes.

We first reduce to the calculation of the lower bounds for $\operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n)$ to torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent groups by appealing to the conjugacy separability of two elements within a finite index subgroup.

Proposition 13.1. Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group, and let Δ be a subgroup. Suppose there exist $\gamma, \eta \in \Delta$ such that $\gamma \nsim \eta$ in Γ . Then $CD_{\Delta}(\gamma, \eta) \leq CD_{\Gamma}(\gamma, \eta)$.

Proof. We first remark that since Γ and Δ are finitely generated nilpotent groups, Theorem 1.7 implies that $\operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta) < \infty$ and $\operatorname{CD}_{\Delta}(\gamma,\eta) < \infty$. Suppose that $\varphi : \Gamma \to Q$ is surjective homomorphism to a finite group such that $|Q| = \operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta)$. If we let $\iota : \Delta \to \Gamma$ be the inclusion, then we have a surjective homomorphism $\varphi \circ \iota : \Delta \to \varphi(\Delta)$ to a finite group where $\varphi(\iota(\gamma)) \approx \varphi(\iota(\eta))$. By definition, $\operatorname{CD}_{\Delta}(\gamma,\eta) \leq |\varphi(\Delta)| \leq |Q|$. Thus, $\operatorname{CD}_{\Delta}(\gamma,\eta) \leq \operatorname{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma,\eta)$.

Theorem 1.8(ii). Let Γ be an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group, and suppose that Γ is not virtually abelian. Then

$$n^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)} \preceq \text{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Additionally, one can compute $\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)$ given a basis for $(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))_c$ where c is the step length of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$.

Proof. We first assume that Γ is torsion-free. Let Γ/Λ be a maximal admissible quotient of Γ . There exists an element $g \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$ such that Γ/Λ is an admissible quotient with respect to g. Moreover, there exists a $k \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$ such that $g^k = [y, z]$ for some $y \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $z \in \Gamma$. If g is not primitive, then there exists an element $x_{\Lambda} \in (Z(\Gamma))^{\bullet}$ such that $x_{\Lambda}^s = g$ for some $s \in \mathbb{Z}^{\bullet}$. In particular, $x_{\Lambda}^t = [y, z]$ where t = s k.

There exists a cyclic series $\{\Delta_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Gamma)}$ that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ where $\xi_1 = x_{\Lambda}$. There exists $a_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and $b_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} \in \Gamma$ such that $[a_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}, b_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}] = \xi_1^{t \operatorname{B}(\Gamma/\Lambda,\overline{\Delta},\overline{\xi})}$. Equation 4 implies that

$$H_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} = \left\langle a_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}, b_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}, \xi_1^{t \operatorname{B}(\Gamma/\Lambda,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi})} \right\rangle \cong \operatorname{H}_3(\mathbb{Z}).$$

Let $\{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\}$ be an enumeration of primes greater than $B(\Gamma/\Lambda, \overline{\Delta}, \overline{\xi})$. Let

$$\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} = (a_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}} \,\xi_1^t \, {}^{\mathrm{B}(\Gamma/\Lambda,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi})}$$

and

$$\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} = (a_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}} \, \xi_1^{2\,t \ \mathrm{B}(\Gamma/\Lambda,\Delta,\xi)}$$

Since the images of $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ and $\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ are nonequal, central elements of $\Gamma/\Lambda \cdot \Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}}$, it follows that $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} \not\sim \eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ for all j.

We claim that $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ and $\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ are our desired nonconjugate elements. In particular, we will demonstrate that

$$\mathrm{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi},\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \approx ((p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{1/(c(\Gamma)-1)})^{\psi_{\mathrm{Lower}}(\Gamma)} = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$$

and that

 $\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S, \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S \approx (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{1/(c(\Gamma)-1)}.$

By construction, we have that $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}, \eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} \in \Gamma_{c(\Gamma)-1}$ and

$$\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_{S'}, \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_{S'} \approx p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$$

where $S' = S \cap \Gamma^2$. [16, 3.B2] implies that

$$\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S, \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S \approx (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{1/(c(\Gamma)-1)}.$$

Therefore,

$$(\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S)^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)}, (\|\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}\|_S)^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)} \approx (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\text{RF}}(\Gamma)}.$$

Hence, we need to demonstrate that if given a surjective homomorphism to a finite group $\varphi: \Gamma \to Q$ such that $|Q| < (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$, then $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \sim \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$.

[17, Thm 2.7] implies that we may assume that $|Q| = q^{\beta}$ where q is prime. Since $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$ when $\varphi(\xi_1^{t \ B(\Gamma/\Lambda,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi})}) = 1$, we may assume that $\varphi(\xi_1^{t \ B(\Gamma/\Lambda,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi})}) \neq 1$. In particular, we have $\pi_{\varphi(\Lambda)} \circ \varphi(\xi_1^{t \ B(\Gamma/\Lambda,\bar{\Delta},\bar{\xi})}) \neq 1$ by Proposition 4.5. Now assume that $q = p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$, and suppose that $\varphi(\Lambda) \neq \{1\}$. As before, we have the homomorphism $\rho \circ \varphi : \Gamma/\Lambda \to Q/\varphi(\Lambda)$. Since $|Q/\varphi(Q)| \leq (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$, Proposition 4.12 implies that $|Q/\varphi(Q)| = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$. Thus, we have that $|Q| > (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)}$. Hence, we may assume that $\varphi(\Lambda) = \{1\}$.

Now assume that $q = p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ and $\varphi(\Lambda) \cong \{1\}$. If $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \sim \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$, then there is nothing to prove. Thus, we may assume that $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \nsim \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$. Proposition 4.12 implies that $|Q| = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$ and that if N is a proper quotient of Q with natural projection $\theta : Q \to N$, then $\ker(\theta) \cap Z(Q) \cong Z(Q)$. Thus, we have that $\theta(\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})) = \theta(\varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}))$ since $\theta(\varphi(\xi_1)) = 1$. In particular, if Q is a $p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ -group where $\varphi(\Lambda) \cong \{1\}$ and $|Q| < (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}$, then $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda}) \sim \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda})$. Hence, we may assume that $q \neq p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$.

Now suppose that Q is a q-group where $q \neq p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$, Corollary 9.5 implies that there exists an element $g \in H_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}$ such that $\varphi(g^{-1} \gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} g) = \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$ as elements of $\varphi(H_{\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$. Thus, $\varphi(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) \sim \varphi(\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})$. Since we have exhausted all possibilities, it follows that

$$\mathrm{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi},\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi}) = (p_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)}.$$

Hence,

$$n^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Gamma)(c(\Gamma)-1)} \prec \mathrm{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Now suppose that Γ is an infinite, finitely generated nilpotent group where $|T(\Gamma)| > 1$. There exists a finite index, torsion-free, subgroup of Γ which we denote as Δ . Note that all torsion-free, finite index subgroups of Γ have the same step length. Let Δ/Λ be a maximal admissible quotient of Δ . Using above reasoning, there exists an element $x_{\Lambda} \in \Delta$ such that Δ/Λ is an admissible quotient with respect to x_{Λ} where $x_{\Lambda}^{t} = [y, z]$ for some $y \in \Delta_{c(\Delta)-1}$ and $z \in \Delta$. In particular, there exists a cyclic series $\{K_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Delta)}$ and a compatible generating subset $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1}^{h(\Delta)}$ that together satisfy Proposition 3.6 for Λ where $\xi_1 = x_{\Lambda}$.

Let $\{p_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\}$ be an enumeration of primes greater than $B(\Delta/\Lambda, \bar{K}, \bar{\xi})$. There exist an $a_{\Lambda,K,\xi} \in \Delta_{c(\Delta)-1}$ and $b_{\Lambda,K,\xi} \in \Delta$ such that

$$[a_{\Lambda,K,\xi}, b_{\Lambda,K,\xi}] = \xi_1^{t \operatorname{B}(\Delta/\Lambda,\bar{K},\bar{\xi})}$$

Let

$$\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi} = (a_{\Lambda,K,\xi})^{p_{j,\Delta,K,\xi}} \xi_1^{t \operatorname{B}(\Delta/\Lambda,K,\xi)}$$

and

$$\eta_{j,\Lambda,\Delta,\xi} = (a_{\Lambda,K,\xi})^{p_{j,\Lambda,\bar{K},\bar{\xi}}} \xi_1^{2t \operatorname{B}(\Delta/\Lambda,\bar{K},\bar{\xi})}$$

be the elements from the above construction for Δ . Let

$$\rho: \Gamma \to \Gamma/T(\Gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}}$$

be the natural projection. We have that

$$\rho(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}) \neq \rho(\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}) \text{ and } \rho(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}), \rho(\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}) \neq 1$$

by construction. Additionally, $\pi_{T(\Gamma)}(\Delta)$ is a finite index subgroup of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$. Thus, [17, Lem 4.8(c)] implies that

$$Z(\pi_{T(\Gamma)}(\Delta)) = \pi_{T(\Gamma)}(\Delta) \cap Z(\Gamma/Z(\Gamma))$$

Hence, $\pi_{T(\Gamma)}(\xi_1) \in Z(\Gamma/T(\Gamma))$. Since $\rho(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})$ and $\rho(\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})$ are unequal, central elements of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma) \cdot \Gamma^{p_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}}$, we have that $\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi} \nsim \eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}$.

Proposition 13.1 implies that

$$CD_{\Delta}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi},\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}) \le CD_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi},\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}).$$

By the above construction, we have that

$$(p_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Delta)(c(\Delta)-1)} \leq \mathrm{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi},\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})$$

where

$$\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_S, \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_S \approx (p_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})^{1/(c(\Delta)-1)}$$

If S' is a finite generating subset of Γ , then

$$\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_S \approx \|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_{S'} \quad \text{and} \quad \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_S \approx \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_{S'}.$$

Hence,

$$\|\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_{S'}, \|\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}\|_{S'} \approx (p_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})^{1/(c(\Delta)-1)},$$

and

$$(n_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi})^{\psi_{\mathrm{RF}}(\Delta)(c(\Delta)-1)} \preceq \mathrm{CD}_{\Gamma}(\gamma_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi},\eta_{j,\Lambda,K,\xi}).$$

Since the projection to the torsion-free quotient $\pi_{T(\Gamma)} : \Gamma \to \Gamma/T(\Gamma)$ is injective when restricted to Δ , Δ is isomorphic to a finite index subgroup of $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$, and thus, Theorem 1.3 implies that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Delta) = \psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$. Since $c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma)) = c(\Delta)$, we have that

$$n^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)} \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Theorem 1.9. Let Γ and Δ be infinite, finitely generated nilpotents of step size greater than or equal to 2, and suppose that $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$ and $\Delta/T(\Delta)$ have isomorphic Mal'tsev completions. Then

$$n^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Gamma)} \preceq \text{Conj}_{\Delta}(n) \quad and \quad n^{\psi_{\text{Lower}}(\Delta)} \preceq \text{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Proof. Suppose that Γ and Δ are two infinite, finitely generated nilpotent groups of step size 2 or greater such that $\Gamma/T(\Gamma)$ and $\Delta/T(\Delta)$ has isomorphic Mal'tsev completions. Proposition 7.8 implies that

$$\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma/T(\Gamma)) = \psi_{\rm RF}(\Delta/T(\Delta)).$$

By definition of $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma)$ and $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Delta)$, we have that $\psi_{\rm RF}(\Gamma) = \psi_{\rm RF}(\Delta)$. Since $c(\Gamma/T(\Gamma)) = c(\Delta/T(\Delta))$, our theorem is now evident.

14. Proof of Theorem 1.10

Theorem 1.10. For natural numbers c > 1 and $k \ge 1$, there exists an irreducible, torsion-free, finitely generated nilpotent group Γ of step length c such that

$$n^k \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma}(n).$$

Proof. For each $s \in \mathbb{N}$, let Λ_s be the group given in Definition 8.7, and let $\theta : Z(\Lambda_s) \to Z(\Lambda_s)$ be the identity morphism. Let c > 1 and $m \ge 1$, and consider the group $\Gamma_{cm} = (\Lambda_{c+1} \circ_{\theta})_{i=1}^m$ with a finite generating subset S_{cm} . Proposition 8.6 implies that $h(\Gamma_{cm}) = c m^2 + c m - 1$, and since $c^2 m^2 + c^2 m - 1 \ge m$, Theorem 1.8(ii) implies that $n^m \preceq \operatorname{Conj}_{\Gamma_{cm}}(n)$ as desired.

References

- AGOL, IAN. The virtual Haken conjecture. With an appendix by Ian Agol, Daniel Groves, and Jason Manning. Doc. Math. 18 (2013), 1045–1087. MR3104553 (20F67 57Mxx), Zbl 1286.57019, arXiv:1204.2810.
- BASS, HYMAN. The degree of polynomial growth of finitely generated nilpotent groups. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 25 (1972), 603–614. MR0379672 (52 #577), Zbl 0259.20045, doi: 10.1112/plms/s3-25.4.603.
- BLACKBURN, NORMAN. Conjugacy in nilpotent groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (1965), 143–148. MR0172925 (30 #3140), Zbl 0127.01302, doi: 10.2307/2034018.
- BOU-RABEE, KHALID. Quantifying residual finiteness. J. Algebra 323 (2010), no. 3, 729–737. MR2574859 (2011d:20087), Zbl 1222.20020, arXiv:0807.0862, doi:10.1016/j.jalgebra.2009.10.008.
- [5] BOU-RABEE, KHALID. Approximating a group by its solvable quotients. New York J. Math. 17 (2011), 699–712. MR2851069 (2012m:20056), Zbl 1243.20038, arXiv:1102.4030.
- [6] BOU-RABEE, KHALID; HAGEN, MARK F.; PATEL, PRIYAM. Residual finiteness growths of virtually special groups. *Math. Z.* **279** (2015), no. 1–2, 297–310. MR3299854, Zbl 1317.20036, arXiv:1402.6974, doi:10.1007/s00209-014-1368-5.
- BOU-RABEE, KHALID; KALETHA, TASHO. Quantifying residual finiteness of arithmetic groups. Compos. Math. 148 (2012), no. 3, 907–920. MR2925403, Zbl 1256.20030, arXiv:1008.3579, doi:10.1112/S0010437X11007469.
- BOU-RABEE, KHALID; MCREYNOLDS, D.B. Asymptotic growth and least common multiples in groups. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 43 (2011), no. 6, 1059–1068. MR2861528, Zbl 1253.20029, arXiv:0907.3681, doi:10.1112/blms/bdr038.
- BOU-RABEE, KHALID; MCREYNOLDS, D.B. Extremal behavior of divisibility functions. *Geom. Dedicata* **175** (2015), 407–415. MR3323650, Zbl 1314.20023, arXiv:1211.4727, doi: 10.1007/s10711-014-9955-5.
- BUSKIN, N.V. Efficient separability in free groups. Sibiesk. Math. Zh. 50 (2009), no. 4, 765–771; translation in Sib. Math. J. 50 (2009), no. 4, 603–608. MR2583614 (2010m:20029), Zbl 1212.20055.
- [11] CHAHAL, JASBIR SINGH. Solution of the congruence subgroup problem for solvable algebraic groups. *Nagoya Math. J.* **79** (1980), 141-144. MR0587415 (81j:20063), Zbl 0445.20022, doi: 10.1017/S0027763000018985.
- [12] CORWIN, LAWRENCE J.; GREENLEAF, FREDERICK P. Representations of nilpotent Lie groups and their applications. Part I. Basic theory and examples. Cambridge

MARK PENGITORE

Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 18. *Cambridge University Press, Cambridge*, 1990. viii+269 pp. ISBN: 0-521-36034-X. MR1070979 (92b:22007), Zbl 0704.22007.

- [13] DEKIMPE, KAREL. Almost-Bieberbach groups: affine and polynomial structures. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1639. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1996. x+259 pp. ISBN: 3-540-61899-6. MR1482520 (2000b:20066), Zbl 0865.20001, doi: 10.1007/BFb0094472.
- [14] FORMANEK, EDWARD. Conjugate separability in polycyclic groups. J. Algebra 42 (1976), no. 1, 1–10. MR0419608 (54 #7626), Zbl 0345.20031, doi:10.1016/0021-8693(76)90021-1.
- [15] GORBACEVIČ, V. V. Discrete subgroups of solvable Lie groups of type (E). Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 85 (127) (1972) 238-255. MR0289711 (44#6899), Zbl 0239.22014, doi:10.1070/SM1971v014n02ABEH002615.
- [16] GROMOV, MIKHAEL. Asymptotic invariants of infinite groups. Geometric group theory, Vol. 2 (Sussex, 1991), 1–295, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 182. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1993. MR1253544 (95m:20041), Zbl 0841.20039.
- [17] HALL, PHILIP. The Edmonton notes on nilpotent groups. Queen Mary College Mathematics Notes. Mathematics Department, Queen Mary College, London, 1969. iii+76. MR0283083 (44 #316), Zbl 0211.34201.
- [18] HAMILTON, EMILY; WILTON, HENRY; ZALESSKII, PAVEL A. Separability of double cosets and conjugacy classes in 3-manifold groups. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 87 (2013), no. 1, 269–288. MR3022716, Zbl 1275.57031, arXiv:1109.2765, doi:10.1112/jlms/jds040.
- [19] HEMPEL, JOHN. Residual finiteness for 3-manifolds. Combinatorial group theory and topology (Alta, Utah, 1984), 379–396, Ann. of Math. Study., 111. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1987. MR0895623 (89b:57002), Zbl 0772.57002.
- [20] HOLT, DEREK F.; EICK, BETTINA; O'BRIEN, EAMONN A. Handbook of computational group theory. Discrete Mathematics and its Applications (Boca Ralton). *Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL,* 2005. xvi+514 pp. ISBN: 1-58488-372-3. MR2129747 (2006f:20001), Zbl 1091.20001, doi: 10.1201/9781420035216.
- [21] KASSABOV, MARTIN; MATUCCI, FRANCESCO. Bounding the residual finiteness of free groups. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 139 (2011), no. 7, 2281–2286. MR2784792 (2012g:20085), Zbl 1230.20045, arXiv:0912.2368, doi:10.1090/S0002-9939-2011-10967-5.
- [22] KHUKHRO, EVGENII I. Nilpotent groups and their automorphisms. De Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics, 8. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1993. xiv+252 pp. ISBN: 3-11-013672-4. MR1224233 (94g;20046), Zbl 0795.20018.
- [23] KNAPP, ANTHONY W. Lie groups beyond an introduction. Second edition. Progress in Mathmeatics, 140. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2002. xviii+812 pp. ISBN: 0-8176-4259-5. MR1920389 (2003c:22001), Zbl 1075.22501, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-2453-0.
- [24] KOZMA, GADY; THOM, ANDREAS. Divisibility and laws in finite simple groups. Math. Ann. 364 (2016), no. 1–2, 79–95. MR3451381, Zbl 1344.20024, arXiv:1403.2324, doi:10.1007/s00208-015-1201-4.
- [25] LAWTON, SEAN; LOUDER, LARSEN; MCREYNOLDS, D. B. Decision problems, complexity, traces, and representations. *Groups Geom. Dyn.* **11** (2017), no. 1, 165–188. MR3641838, Zbl 06730408.
- [26] LEEDHAM-GREEN, CHARLES R.; MCKAY, SUSAN. The structure of groups of prime power order. London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, 27. Oxford Science Publications. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002. xii+334 pp. ISBN: 0-19-853548-1. MR1918951 (2003f:20028), Zbl 1008.20001.
- [27] LYNDON, ROGER C.; SCHUPP, PAUL E. Combinatorial group theory. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. xiv+339 pp. ISBN: 3-540-41158-5.
 MR1812024 (2001i:20064), Zbl 0997.20037, doi:10.1007/978-3-642-61896-3.

- [28] MAL'TSEV, ANATOLII I. On isomorphic matrix representations of infinite groups. Rec. Math. [Mat. Sbornik] N.S. 8 (50) (1940), 405–422; translation in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. 45 (1965), 1–18. MR0003420 (2,216d), Zbl 0025.00804.
- [29] MAL'TSEV, ANATOLIĬ I. On a class of homogeneous spaces. Amer. Math. Soc. Translation 1951 (1951), no. 39, 33 pp. MR0039734 (12,589e), Zbl 0034.01701.
- [30] MAL'TSEV, ANATOLIĬ I. On homomorphisms onto finite groups. Ser. 2, Am. Math. Soc. 119 (1983), 67–79; translated from Uch. Zap. Ivanov. Gos. Pedagog Inst. 18 (1958), 49–60. Zbl 0511.20026.
- [31] OSIN, DENIS V. Subgroup distortions in nilpotent groups. Comm. Algebra 29 (2001), no. 12, 5439–5463. MR1872804 (2002j:20078), Zbl 0991.22010.
- [32] PATEL, PRIYAM. On a theorem of Peter Scott. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 142 (2014), no. 8, 2891–2906. MR3209342, Zbl 1311.57003, arXiv:1204.5135, doi: 10.1090/S0002-9939-2014-12031-4.
- [33] RAGHUNATHAN, MADABUSI S. Discrete subgroups of Lie groups. Math. Student 2007, Special Centenary Volume, (2008), 59–70. MR2527560 (2010d:22016), Zbl 1193.22011.
- [34] REMESLENNIKOV, VLADIMIR N. Finite approximability of groups with respect to conjugacy. Sib. Math. J. 12 (1971), 783–792; translation from Sibirsk. Mat. Ž 12 (1971), 1085–1099. MR0294469 (45 #3539), Zbl 0282.20022, doi: 10.1007/BF00966516.
- [35] RIVIN, IGOR. Geodesics with one self-intersection, and other stories. Adv. Math.
 231 (2012), no. 5, 2391–2412. MR2970452, Zbl 1257.57024, arXiv:0901.2543, doi:10.1016/j.aim.2012.07.018.
- [36] SEGAL, DANIEL. Polycyclic groups. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 82. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1983. xiv+289 pp. ISBN: 0-521-24146-4. MR713786 (85h:20003), Zbl 0516.20001, doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511565953.
- [37] STEBE, PETER F. Conjugacy separability of groups of integer matrices. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **32** (1972), 1–7. MR0289666 (44 #6854), Zbl 0242.20048, doi:10.2307/2038292.
- [38] TENENBAUM, GÉRALD. Introduction to analytic and probabilistic number theory. Third edition. Translated from the 2008 French edition by Patrick D. F. Ion. Graduate Studies in Mathematics, 163. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2015. xxiv+629 pp. ISBN: 978-0-8218-9854-3. MR3363366, Zbl 1336.11001.
- [39] THOM, ANDREAS. About the length of laws for finite groups. Israel J. Math. 219 (2017), no. 1, 469–478. MR3642030, Zbl 06726593, doi: 10.1007/s11856-017-1487-x.

(Mark Pengitore) DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, PURDUE UNIVERSITY, 150 N. UNI-VERSITY STREET, WEST LAFAYETTE, IN 47905-2067 mpengito@purdue.edu

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2018/24-5.html.